Planning Committee Agenda
Date:

Wednesday 20 October 2021

Time:

6.30 pm

Venue:

Council Chamber, Harrow Civic Centre, Station
Road, Harrow, HA1 2XY

The date and time for the site visit for Planning Committee Members will be
communicated in due course.
The date and time for the briefing for Planning Committee Members will be
communicated in due course.
Membership (Quorum 3)
Chair:

Councillor Pamela Fitzpatrick

Labour Councillors:

Simon Brown
Maxine Henson
Nitin Parekh (VC)

Conservative Councillors:

Marilyn Ashton
Christopher Baxter
Anjana Patel

Labour Reserve Members:

1.
2.
3.
4.

Conservative Reserve Members:

1. Bharat Thakker
2. Norman Stevenson
3. Ameet Jogia

Peymana Assad
Dean Gilligan
James Lee
Ajay Maru

Contact: Mwim Chellah, Senior Democratic & Electoral Services Officer
Tel: 07761 405966 E-mail: mwimanji.chellah@harrow.gov.uk
Scan this code for the electronic agenda:

Useful Information
Meeting details:
This meeting is open to the press and public:
Directions to the Civic Centre can be found at:
www.harrow.gov.uk/contact
and can be viewed on www.harrow.gov.uk/virtualmeeting

Meeting access / special requirements.
The public will be admitted on a first-come-first basis and you will be directed to seats.
If you are a registered speaker please advise Security on your arrival.
If you are attending the meeting please:
(1)

Take a Covid 19 test up to 24 hours before the meeting. Harrow residents can book
a test by visiting https://www.harrow.gov.uk/coronavirus-covid-19/book-covid-test. If
you are not a Harrow resident, please visit your local authority’s webpages for your
closest test site. Alternatively, you can request a Home Test by visiting
https://www.gov.uk/order-coronavirus-rapid-lateral-flow-tests. If you do not have
access to the internet, please call 119 or speak to your Local Chemist;

(2)

Scan the NHS Test and Trace barcode or provide your contact information;

(3)

Wear a face covering and use the hand sanitiser;

(4)

Stay seated during the meeting;

(5)

Access the meeting agenda online at:
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=1001&Year=0; and

(6)

Follow the social distancing and other instructions of the Security Officers.

The Civic Centre is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets
and lifts to meeting room. If you have special requirements, please contact the officer listed
on the front page of this agenda.

Filming / recording of meetings
Please note that proceedings at this meeting will be recorded or filmed. If you choose to
attend, you will be deemed to have consented to being recorded and/or filmed.
The recording will be made available on the Council website following the meeting.
When present in the meeting room, silent mode should be enabled for all mobile devices.

Agenda publication date: Monday 11 October 2021

Planning Committee - 20 October 2021

2

Agenda - Part I
Guidance Note for Members of the Public attending the
Planning Committee (Pages 5 - 8)
1.

Attendance by Reserve Members
To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members.
Reserve Members may attend meetings:(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

2.

3.

to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve;
where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and
the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the
Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve;
if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after the
commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act as a
Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after his/her
arrival.

Right of Members to Speak
To agree requests to speak from Councillors who are not Members of the Committee, in
accordance with Committee Procedure 4.1.
Declarations of Interest
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising from
business to be transacted at this meeting, from:
(a)
(b)

all Members of the Committee;
all other Members present.

4.

Minutes (Pages 9 - 18)
That the minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2021 be taken as read and
signed as a correct record.

5.

Public Questions
To receive any public questions received in accordance with Committee Procedure Rule
17 (Part 4B of the Constitution).
Questions will be asked in the order in which they were received. There will be a time
limit of 15 minutes for the asking and answering of public questions.
[The deadline for receipt of public questions is 3.00 pm, 15 October 2021.
Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk
No person may submit more than one question].

6.

Petitions
To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under the
provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4B of the Constitution).

7.

Deputations

Planning Committee - 20 October 2021

3

To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 16
(Part 4B) of the Constitution.
8.

References from Council and other Committees/Panels
To receive references from Council and any other Committees or Panels (if any).

9.

Addendum (To Follow)

10.

Representations on Planning Applications
To confirm whether representations are to be received, under Committee Procedure
Rule 29 (Part 4B of the Constitution), from objectors and applicants regarding planning
applications on the agenda.
Planning Applications Received
Report of the Divisional Director, Planning - circulated separately.
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Planning Protocol, where
Councillors disagree with the advice of the Chief Planning Officer, it will be the Members'
responsibility to clearly set out the reasons for refusal where the Officer recommendation
is for grant. The planning reasons for rejecting the Officer's advice must be clearly
stated, whatever the recommendation and recorded in the minutes. The Officer must be
given the opportunity to explain the implications of the contrary decision.
11. Section 1 - Major Applications
(a)

1/01, Matrix House, 219
Alexandra Avenue,
P/3815/20

ROXBOURNE

GRANT SUBJECT TO
LEGAL
AGREEMENT

(Pages
19 - 30)

12. Section 2 - Other Applications recommended for Grant

13.

(a)

2/01, Alden Mead, 14 The
Avenue, P/1890/21

HATCH END

GRANT

(Pages
31 - 66)

(b)

2/02, 42 Chartley Avenue,
HA7 3QZ, P/2912/21

STANMORE PARK

GRANT

(Pages
67 110)

Any Other Urgent Business
Which cannot otherwise be dealt with.

Agenda - Part II - NIL

Planning Committee - 20 October 2021

4

Agenda Annex
Pages 5 to 8

GUIDANCE NOTE FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
ATTENDING THE PLANNING COMMITTEE

Typical Planning Committee Layout for the Council Chamber

Planning
Officers

CHAIR

Clerk

Councillors

Councillors

Empty Row

Empty Row

Back benching
Councillors

Back benching
Councillors

Speakers

PUBLIC SEATING AREA

Legal
Officer
PUBLIC SEATING AREA

PUBLIC SEATING AREA

Planning
Officer

Speakers

Entrance to the
Council Chamber

PUBLIC SEATING AREA

Order of Committee Business
It is the usual practice for the Committee to bring forward to the early part of the meeting, those
planning applications where notice has been given that objectors wish to speak, or where
members of the public have come to hear the debate. However, often the agendas are quite
long and the Committee may want to raise questions with officers and enter into detailed
discussion over particular applications. This means that members of the public may have to
wait some time before the application they are interested in is discussed. Additionally, the
Committee may take a short break around 8.30 pm.
Rights of Objectors & Applicants to Speak at Planning Committees
[Please note that objectors may only speak if they requested to do so by 5.00 pm on the
working day before the meeting]
In summary, where a planning application is recommended for grant by the Divisional Director
of Planning, a representative of the objectors may address the Committee for up to 3 minutes.
Where an objector speaks, the applicant has a right of reply. The Planning Service advises
neighbouring residents and applicants of this procedure.

5

The Planning Committee is a formal quasi-judicial body of the Council with responsibility for
determining applications, hence the need to apply rules governing the rights of public to speak.
Full details of this procedure are set out in the Council’s Constitution, which also provides useful
information for Members of the public wishing to present petitions, deputations or ask public
questions at Planning Committee, and the rules governing these. The relevant pages of the
Constitution can be accessed via this link:
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/documents/s151078/029%20Part%204B%20Committee%20Pr
ocedure%20Rules.pdf
Addendum
In addition to the agenda, an Addendum is produced on the day before the meeting, with any
final updates included in a second Addendum on the day of the meeting. These documents
update the Committee on any additional information received since the formal agenda was
published and also identifies any applications which have been withdrawn by applicants or
which officers are recommending for deferral.
A limited number of hard copy agendas and addendums are available for the public in
the Council Chamber from approximately 6.00 pm onwards on the day of the meeting.
Decisions taken by the Planning Committee
The types of decisions commonly taken by the Planning Committee are set out below:
Refuse permission:
Where a proposal does not comply with the Council’s (or national) policies or guidance and the
proposal is considered unacceptable, the Committee may refuse planning permission. The
applicant can appeal to the Secretary of State against such a decision. Where the Committee
refuse permission contrary to the officer recommendation, clear reasons will be specified by the
Committee at the meeting.
Grant permission as recommended:
Where a proposal complies with the Council’s (or national) policies or guidance and the
proposal is considered acceptable, the Committee may grant permission. Conditions are
normally imposed.
Minded to grant permission contrary to officer’s recommendation:
On occasions, the Committee may consider the proposal put before them is acceptable,
notwithstanding an officer recommendation of refusal. In this event, the application will be
deferred and brought back to a subsequent meeting. Renotification will be carried out to advise
that the Committee is minded to grant the application.
Defer for a site visit:
If the Committee decides that it can better consider an application after visiting the site and
seeing the likely impact of a proposal for themselves, then the application may be deferred until
the next meeting, for an organised Member site visit to take place.
Defer for further information/to seek amendments:
If the Committee considers that it does not have sufficent information to make a decision, or if it
wishes to seek amendments to a proposal, the application may be deferred to a subsequent
meeting.

6

Grant permission subject to a legal agreement:
Sometimes requirements need to be attached to a planning permission which cannot be dealt
with satisfactorily by conditions. The Committee therefore may grant permission subject to a
legal agreement being entered into by the Council and the Applicant/Land owner to ensure
these additional requirements are met.

(Important Note: This is intended to be a general guide to help members of the public
understand the Planning Committee procedures. It is not an authoritative statement of the law.
Also, the Committee may, on occasion, vary procedures).

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Pages 9 to 18

Planning Committee
Minutes
29 September 2021
Present:

378.

Chair:

Councillor Pamela
Fitzpatrick

Councillors:

Marilyn Ashton
Christopher Baxter
Simon Brown

Maxine Henson
Nitin Parekh
Anjana Patel

In attendance
(Councillors):

Dan Anderson

For Minute 395

Attendance by Reserve Members
RESOLVED: To note that there were no Reserve Members in attendance at
this meeting.

379.

Right of Members to Speak
RESOLVED: That, in accordance with Committee Procedure Rule 4.1, the
following Councillor, who was not a Member of the Committee, be allowed to
speak on the agenda item indicated:

380.

Councillor

Planning Application

Dan Anderson

John Lyon School Middle Road, Harrow
HA2 0HN, P/2092/21

Declarations of Interest
RESOLVED: To note that the Declarations of Interests published in advance
of the meeting on the Council’s website were taken as read, and in addition
the following statement was made:

Planning Committee - 29 September 2021

9

Page 594

Agenda Item 2/04 Avanti House Secondary School, Wemborough Road,
Stanmore, HA7 2EQ P/2430/21
Councillor Nitin Parekh declared a non-pecuniary interest in that he
occasionally visited the temple in Watford, which was attached to the Avanti
House Secondary School.
381.

Minutes
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 1 September 2021 be
taken as read and signed as a correct record.

382.

Public Questions
RESOLVED: To note that no public questions were put.

383.

Petitions
RESOLVED: To note that no petitions were received.

384.

Deputations
RESOLVED: To note that no deputations were received.

385.

References from Council and other Committees/Panels
RESOLVED: To note that there were none.

386.

Addendum
RESOLVED: To accept the Addendum, and Supplemental Addendums.

387.

Representations on Planning Applications
RESOLVED: That in accordance with the provisions of Committee Procedure
Rule 29 (Part 4B of the Constitution), representations be received in respect
of items 2/03, 2/05, 2/07 and 3/01 on the list of planning applications.

Resolved Items
388.

2/01, Perwell Court, Alexandra Avenue, Harrow HA2 9ED
PROPOSAL: redevelopment to provide five, three storey terraced dwelling
houses (5 x 3 bed) and a three storey building comprising of two flats (1 x 1
bed and 1 x 3 bed); landscaping; parking; bin and cycle stores (demolition of
existing garages) (as amended by the Addendum).
Councillor Marilyn Ashton proposed refusal for the following reasons:
1.

the proposed development, by reason of its proximity to the
neighbouring building at Perwell Court, would result in an
unacceptable level of narrowing between the proposed
development and Perwell Court and would therefore result in a

Planning Committee - 29 September 2021

10

Page 595

loss of amenity to the occupiers of Perwell Court and be
detrimental to the character of the area, contrary policy D1, D3(d)
London Plan (2021), DM1 of Harrow Development Management
Policies Local Plan (2013), and the Council's Residential design
Guide SPD (2010);
2.

the siting of the proposed buildings, by reason of their close
proximity to the communal garden and the lack of workable and
appropriate defensible space between and buildings and the
garden, would be detrimental to the amenity of the future
occupiers of the development and the use and enjoyment of the
garden itself, contrary to D1, D3(d) London Plan (2021), DM1
Harrow development Management Policies Local Plan (2013) and
the Supplementary Planning Document Residential Design Guide
SPD (2010); and

3.

the amenity space that had been provided was insufficient to
adequately serve the future and existing occupiers of this
development and Perwell Court, to the detriment of the residential
amenity of the future and existing occupiers, contrary to policy
DM1 of Harrow Development Management Policies Local Plan
(2012) and the Supplementary Planning Document Residential
design Guide SPD (2010).

The proposal was seconded by Councillor Christopher Baxter, put to the vote
and lost.
The Committee resolved to accept officer recommendations.
RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Committee was asked to:
1) agree the reasons for approval as set out in the report; and
2) grant planning permission subject to the Conditions listed in Appendix
1 of the report.

DECISION: GRANT
The Committee wished it to be recorded that the decision to grant the
application was by Chair’s Casting Vote.
Councillors Brown, Fitzpatrick and Parekh voted to grant the application.
Councillor Henson abstained from voting on the application.
Councillors Ashton, Baxter and Patel voted against the application.
Councillor Fitzpatrick, as Chair, used her Casting Vote to grant the
application.

Planning Committee - 29 September 2021

11

Page 596

389.

2/02, 211 Harrow View, Harrow, HA1 4SS P/2049/21
PROPOSAL: installation of 15-metre-high (5G) monopole; installation of
wraparound equipment cabinet and 3 x additional cabinets (retrospective).
On a proposal by Councillor Simon Brown, and seconded by Councillor Nitin
Parekh, the Committee resolved to delegate the decision to the Chief
Planning Officer.
RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Committee was asked to:
1) agree the reasons for approval as set out in the report; and
2) grant planning permission subject to conditions listed in Appendix 1 of
the report.
DECISION: DELEGATE TO CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER
The Committee wished it to be recorded that the decision to delegate the
decision to the Chief Planning Officer was unanimous.
Councillors Ashton, Baxter, Brown, Fitzpatrick, Henson, Parekh and Patel
abstained from voting on the application.

390.

2/03, 31-37 Rosslyn Crescent, Harrow HA1 2SA, P/2216/21/PRIOR
PROPOSAL: demolition of existing building and construction of a three storey
building containing 14 flats (Prior approval of transport and highways impacts;
contamination risks; flooding risks; the design of the new building; the external
appearance of the new building; the provision of adequate natural light in all
habitable rooms of each new dwelling house; the impact of the development
on the amenity of the new building and of neighbouring premises; impacts of
noise from any commercial premises on the intended occupiers of the new
dwelling houses; the impact on business and new residents of the
development's introduction of, or increase in, residential use in the area in
which the development is to take place; the impact of the development on
heritage and archaeology; the method of demolition of the old building;
landscaping; air traffic and defence asset impacts, and impact on a protected
vista)(as amended by the Addendum).
The Committee received representation from Rebecca Jones (objector), and
Mark Sleigh (applicant), who urged the Committee to refuse and approve the
application, respectively.
The Committee resolved to accept officer recommendations.
RECOMMENDATION A

Planning Committee - 29 September 2021

12

Page 597

The Planning Committee was asked to:
1) agree the reasons for approval as set out in the report; and
2) grant planning permission subject to authority being delegated to the
Chief Planning Officer in consultation with the Director of Legal and
Governance Services for the completion of a legal agreement and
other enabling legislation and issue of the planning permission and
subject to minor amendments to the conditions (set out in Appendix 1
of the report) or the legal agreement. The Legal Agreement Heads of
Terms would cover the following matters:
i.

Parking Permit Restrictions – the development to be “resident
permit restricted” in accordance with section 16 of the GLC (Gen
Powers) Act 1974 and the developer to ensure that: 1) all
marketing/advertising material makes reference to this fact, and
2) all agreements contain a covenant to the effect that future
occupiers and tenants (other than those who are registered
disabled) will not be entitled to apply for residents parking permit
or a visitor permit. A contribution in accordance with the adopted
fees and charges is required to amend the Traffic Management
Order and appropriate Section 106 monitoring fee; and

ii.

Legal Fees: Payment of Harrow Council’s reasonable costs in
the preparation of the legal agreement.

RECOMMENDATION B
That if the Legal Agreement is not completed by 30 November 2021, or as
such extended period as may be agreed by the Interim Chief Planning Officer
in consultation with the Chair of the Planning Committee, then it is
recommended to delegate the decision to REFUSE planning permission to
the Interim Chief Planning Officer on the grounds that: the proposed
development, in the absence of a legal agreement to provide appropriate
provision for restriction of resident parking permits would fail to comply with
the requirements of policy T6 of The London Plan (2021), policy CS1 of the
Harrow Core Strategy (2012), and Policies DM42 and DM43 of the Harrow
Development Management Policies Local Plan 2013 and would therefore be
unacceptable.
DECISION: GRANT
The Committee wished it to be recorded that the decision to grant the
application was unanimous.
391.

2/04, Avanti House Secondary School, Wemborough Road, Stanmore,
HA7 2EQ P/2430/21
PROPOSAL: single storey infill extension and installation of roof over
courtyard to create internal worship space.

Planning Committee - 29 September 2021

13

Page 598

The Committee resolved to accept officer recommendations.
RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Committee was asked to:
1) agree the reason for approval as set out in the report; and
2) grant planning permission subject to the conditions listed in Appendix 1
of the report.
DECISION: GRANT
The Committee wished it to be recorded that the decision to grant the
application was unanimous.
392.

2/05, 168 Welbeck Road, South Harrow HA2 0RX, P/2550/21
PROPOSAL: single storey rear extension, external alterations (retrospective).
The Committee received representation from Sivasubramaniam Kunaseelan
(objector) who urged the Committee to refuse the application. The applicant
(or their agent) did not address the Committee.
The Committee resolved to accept officer recommendations.
RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Committee was asked to:
1) agree the reasons for approval as set out in the report; and
2) grant planning permission subject to the conditions listed in Appendix 1
of the report.
DECISION: GRANT
The Committee wished it to be recorded that the decision to grant the
application was unanimous.

393.

2/06, 41 Glanleam Road, Stanmore, HA7 4NW, P/2718/21
PROPOSAL: single storey outbuilding in rear garden with basement level to
accommodate swimming pool; and hard and soft landscaping.
The Committee resolved to accept officer recommendations.
RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Committee was asked to:
1) agree the reasons for approval as set out in the report; and

Planning Committee - 29 September 2021

14

Page 599

2) grant planning permission subject to subject to the Conditions listed in
Appendix 1 of the report.
DECISION: GRANT
The Committee wished it to be recorded that the decision to grant the
application was by majority of votes.
Councillors Brown, Fitzpatrick, Henson and Parekh voted to grant the
application.
Councillors Ashton, Baxter and Patel abstained from voting on the application.
394.

2/07, 15 Formby Avenue, Stanmore, HA7 2LA, P/2777/21
PROPOSAL: conversion of dwelling into two flats (2 x 2 bed); external
alterations; separate amenity space; relocation of existing outbuilding; and bin
and cycle stores (as amended by the Addendum).
The Committee received representation from Dipika Patel (objector), and Dan
Zecevic (applicant), who urged the Committee to refuse and approve the
application, respectively.
Councillor Marilyn Ashton proposed refusal for the following reason:
1) the re-location of the proposed outbuilding/garage would be out of
character within the locality and would result in a loss of residential and
visual amenity to the future occupiers and the neighbouring occupiers,
contrary to policy CS1 Harrow Core Strategy (2012), D1 London Plan
(2021), DM1 Harrow Development Management Policies Local Plan
(2013).
The proposal was seconded by Councillor Anjana Patel, put to the vote and
agreed.
The Committee resolved to refuse officer recommendations.
RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Committee was asked to:
1) agree the reasons for approval as set out in the report; and
2) grant planning permission subject to the conditions set out in Appendix
1 of the report.
DECISION: REFUSE
The Committee wished it to be recorded that the decision to refuse the
application was unanimous.

Planning Committee - 29 September 2021

15

Page 600

395.

3/01, John Lyon School, Middle Road, Harrow HA2 0HN, P/2092/21
PROPOSAL: discharge of section 106 obligations attached to planning
permission WEST/695/94/FUL dated 23 June 1995 (The Principal Agreement)
as varied by deed of variation dated 24 September 2007 (First Amendment),
application P/3420/06 dated 16 October 2007 (Second Amendment) and
P/2160/10 dated 11 February 2011 (Third Amendment). The application
proposes to fully discharge the obligations within the Section 106 which
restricts future development to within a building envelope, pupils enrolled for
the full time education to 525 (subsequently increased to 600 by variation to
the original agreement), and not to permit use of any part of the development
outside the normal school hours other than recreational use without prior
written permission of the Local Planning Authority.
The Committee received representation from Councillor Dan Anderson (back
bench) who urged the Committee to refuse the application.
The Committee resolved to accept officer recommendations.
RECOMMENDATION A
The Planning Committee was asked to:
1) agree the reasons for refusal as set out in the report - had the
applicant not appealed the application would have been refused for the
following reason: In the absence of an approved alternative mechanism
to protect the Conservation Area by controlling development and to
control pupil numbers there is no justification for the discharge of the
Section 106 agreement (as amended) attached to planning permission
WEST/695/94/FUL dated 23 June 1995 (The Principal Agreement) as
varied by deed of variation dated 24 September 2007 (First
Amendment), application P/3420/06 dated 16 October 2007 (Second
Amendment) and P/2160/10 dated 11 February 2011 (Third
Amendment). The section 106 continues to serves the purpose of
restricting the building envelope, hours of use and pupil numbers which
is considered necessary to protect the character of the Conservation
Area and the residential amenities of neighbouring residents with
regard to noise, disturbance and traffic movements. In the absence of
any alternative mechanism the removal of these obligations would
have the potential to give rise to circumstances prejudicial to the
character and appearance of the Conservation Area, the residential
amenities of nearby residents and highway safety, contrary to the
National Planning Policy Framework (2021), policies D14, HC1 and T4
of The London Plan (2021) and policies DM1 and DM42 of the Harrow
Development Management Policies Local Plan (2013). The proposed
discharge of Section 106 obligations associated with Planning
Permission Ref: WEST/695/04/FUL and subsequent variations is
therefore considered to be unacceptable under the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (Section 106A).

DECISION: REFUSE

Planning Committee - 29 September 2021

16

Page 601

The Committee wished it to be recorded that the decision to refuse the
application was unanimous.
The audio recording of this meeting can be found at the following link:
https://www.harrow.gov.uk/virtualmeeting

(Note: The meeting, having commenced at 6.30 pm, closed at 8.00 pm).

(Signed) Councillor Pamela Fitzpatrick
Chair

Planning Committee - 29 September 2021

17

Page 602

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11.(a)
Pages 19 to 30
Agenda Item : 1/01

= application site

Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue

P/3815/20

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

19

Location Plan

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

20

LONDON BOROUGH OF HARROW
PLANNING COMMITTEE
20TH OCTOBER 2021
APPLICATION NUMBER:
VALID DATE:
LOCATION:

WARD:
POSTCODE:
APPLICANT:
AGENT:
CASE OFFICER:
EXPIRY DATE:

P/3815/20
25TH NOVEMBER 2020
EMPORIUM COURT (FORMER MATRIX PUBLIC
HOUSE
219 ALEXANDER AVENUE
ROXBOURNE
HA2 9DL
MR RAGHWARI
WASHINGTON YOUNG LLP
SISSI YANG
20TH JAN 2021

PROPOSAL
Modification of S106 obligation attached to planning permission P/0640/16 dated
25/08/2016 to vary on site affordable housing contribution
RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Committee is asked to:
1)

Agree the reasons for approval as set out in this report (the delegated decision is
subject to the Interim Chief Planning officer to complete the Deed of Modification),
and

2)

Grant the modification of the section 106 agreement, subject to authority being
delegated to the Interim Chief Planning Officer in consultation with the Director of
Legal and Governance Services for the completion of a legal agreement. The Deed
of Modification would cover the following matters:
•
•

Removal of affordable housing provision on site (12 Shared Ownership
Units)
Payment of a commuted sum of £822,106

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

21

REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION
The developer has evidenced that there is no uptake by registered providers to take on the
on-site affordable housing units and as such the modifications are considered to be
appropriate in this case. The application is therefore in line with to S106A of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990, Policies HB of the London Plan (2021), policy CS I and J of
the Harrow Core Strategy (2012), policy DM 50 of the Harrow Development Management
Policies Local Plan (2013) and the Supplementary Planning Document: Planning
Obligations and Affordable Housing (2013).

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

22

INFORMATION
This application is reported to Planning Committee as the is called in at the request of a
nominated member. The application is therefore referred to the Planning Committee as it
does not fall within any of the provisions set out at paragraphs 1(a)-1(h) of the Scheme of
Delegation dated 12th December 2018.
Statutory Return Type:
Council Interest:
Net additional Floorspace:

Small Scale Major Developments
N/A
N/A

GLA Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Contribution (provisional):

N/A

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
EQUALITIES
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities obligations
including its obligations under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.
For the purposes of this application there are no adverse equalities issues.
S17 CRIME & DISORDER ACT
It is considered that the proposed development would not adversely impact upon
community safety issues or conflict with development plan policies in this regard.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

23

1.0

SITE DESCRIPTION
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

The application site comprises a part two, three and four storey building for
60 flats and one dwelling house on a prominent corner junction of Alexandra
Avenue and Eastcote Lane.
The former public house has been demolished following fire damage.
The northwest, west and south of the application site is characterised by twostorey residential development.
The east of the application site is also characterised by two storey
development, forming part of a parade of commercial premises at ground
floor level with residential uses above.
There is a petrol filling station with a Tesco Express retail unit located directly
to the north of the site.
Further north along Alexandra Avenue there are three storey flatted
developments which were constructed around the 1920’s – 30’s. They are
traditional brick built and hipped roof design. There is also a three storey
medical centre, which has been constructed in a modern design.
The application site has access to Rayners Lane and South Harrow district
centres, which can be accessed by foot or by a short bus journey.
Planning permission was granted on 25th August 2019 for the redevelopment
of the site for 60 flats and 1 dwelling house with associated works.

2.0

PROPOSAL

2.1

Seeking modification to the original Section 106 (attached to planning permission
P/0640/16) to provide a commuted sum in lieu of on-site affordable housing
provision including:
•
•

Removal of affordable housing provision on site (12 Shared Ownership
Units)
Payment of a commuted sum of £822,106

3.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1.

P/0640/16 - REDEVELOPMENT TO PROVIDE A PART TWO, THREE AND FOUR
STOREY BUILDING FOR 60 FLATS AND ONE DWELLING HOUSE; BASEMENT
PARKING; CYCLE AND BIN STORE; HARD AND SOFT LANDSCAPING. Granted
on 25th August 2019.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

24

4.0

CONSULTATION

4.1

N/A

4.2

A summary of the consultation responses received along with the Officer
comments are set out in the Table below.

Consultee and Summary of Comments
Independent viability consultant – carried out detailed viability assessment and
concluded that financial contribution of £822,106 should be provided without
parking provision.
Policy Officer - Principle of provision of cash in lieu is acceptable. Commuted sum
of £822,106 is acceptable.
Housing Service Officer – has no objection to the agreed commuted sum of
£822,106.

5.0

POLICIES

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that:

5.2

‘If regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.’

5.3

The Government has issued the National Planning Policy Framework [NPPF 2021]
which sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these
should be applied, and is a material consideration in the determination of this
application.

5.4

In this instance, the Development Plan comprises The London Plan 2021 [LP] and
the Local Development Framework [LDF]. The LDF comprises The Harrow Core
Strategy 2012 [CS], Harrow and Wealdstone Area Action Plan 2013 [AAP], the
Development Management Policies Local Plan 2013 [DMP], the Site Allocations
Local Plan [SALP] 2013 and Harrow Local Area Map 2013 [LAP]. The relevant
polices are referenced within the report below and a summary within Informative 1

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

25

6.0

ASSESSMENT

6.1

Paragraph of 63 of National Planning Policy Framework (2021) states that where a
need for affordable housing is identified, planning policies should specify the type
of affordable housing required, and expect it to be met on-site unless:
a)
b)

off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be
robustly justified; and
the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating mixed and
balanced communities.

6.2

Policy H4 (B) of London Plan (2021) states that affordable housing should be
provided on site. Affordable housing must only be provided off-site or as a cash in
lieu contribution in exceptional circumstances.

6.3

Paragraph of 2.56 of Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Development Viability SPG
(adopted 2017) states that ‘all schemes which propose off-site affordable housing
or cash in lieu payments are required to provide a detailed viability assessment as
part of the justification that off-site or cash in lieu is acceptable, in-line with the
London Plan and relevant local policies. Viability alone is insufficient justification
for off-site affordable housing provision or a cash in lieu payment.’

6.4

Paragraph 6.38 of Council’s Supplementary Planning Document: Planning
Obligation and Affordable Housing (2013) states that although the Council’s
preference is to negotiate on-site affordable housing there may be circumstances
where the Council agrees that a cash in lieu of provision contribution may be
suitable. The procedure for establishing such a contribution is set out at Appendix
4 alongside a link to a calculation spreadsheet.

6.5

A new development was granted for 61 residential units with S106 Agreement to
provide 12 on-site Shared Ownership Units as affordable housing contribution.
The development is now completed. A list of evidence was submitted to show that
the applicant approached 15 Registered Providers approved by the Council. 14 of
them showed no interest and 1 of them did not reply. It shows that it is not viable
to deliver the on-site shared ownership units as agreed in the original S106.
Therefore the applicant is seeking for modify the S106 to pay cash in lieu of onsite
affordable housing. This principle is considered reasonably justified and would be
in line with the policies set out above and is supported by both the Councils
Housing and Policy teams.

6.6

An independent viability consultant was consulted and carried out a detailed
assessment which is in line with Appendix 4 Off Site Calculator Appraisal User
Notes and Principals in Council’s Supplementary Planning Document: Planning
Obligation and Affordable Housing (2013). The assessment concludes that a
commuted sum of £822,106 should be provided without parking provision.
Council’s Policy Team and Housing Service Team were consulted and they raised
no objection to the commuted sum. The applicant has agreed to make the
payment of £822,106. Therefore the proposal modifications to the original section
106 agreement are considered acceptable and should be agreed.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

26

7.0

CONCLUSION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDING APPROVAL

7.1

The proposed modifications including payment of cash in lieu and agreed
commuted sum is considered acceptable. The application is therefore in line with
to S106A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Policies HB of the London
Plan (2021), policy CS I and J of the Harrow Core Strategy (2012), policy DM 50 of
the Harrow Development Management Policies Local Plan (2013) and the
Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing
(2013).

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

27

APPENDIX 1: INFORMATIVES

INFORMATIVES:
1.

Policies
The following policies are relevant to this decision:
The London Plan (2021)
H4
The Harrow Core Strategy 2012
CS1 I J
Harrow Development Management Policies Local Plan 2013.00
Policy DM 50 Planning Obligations
Supplementary Planning Documents
Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations and Affordable
Housing (2013).

Checked
Interim
Head
of
Development 06/10/2021
Management
Interim Corporate Director
07/10/2021

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

28

This page has been left intentionally blank

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Matrix House, 219 Alexandra Avenue
Wednesday 20th October 2021

29

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12.(a)
Pages 31 to 66
Agenda Item : 2/01

= application site

Alden Mead, 14 The Avenue

P/1890/21

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

31

Agenda Item 2/01

Location Plan

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

32

LONDON BOROUGH OF HARROW
PLANNING COMMITTEE
20th October 2021
APPLICATION NUMBER:
VALIDATION DATE:
LOCATION:
WARD:
POSTCODE:
APPLICANT:
AGENT:
CASE OFFICER:
EXTENDED EXPIRY DATE:

P/1890/21
19/05/2021
ALDEN MEAD, 14 THE AVENUE
HATCH END
HA5 4ES
MR BERKOVITS
BRASS ARCHITECTURE
FERGUS FREENEY
22/10/2021

PROPOSAL
Creation of third floor comprising two additional flats (2 X 1 bed), single storey cycle
enclosure and increase hardstanding at rear
The Planning Committee is asked to:
1)

Agree the reasons for approval as set out in this report, and

2)

Grant planning permission subject to the Conditions listed in Appendix 1 of this
report.

REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
The proposal would contribute towards housing stock within the Borough and the quality of
accommodation for the future occupiers of the units would be in accordance with the
development plan and policies. Furthermore, it is considered that the proposal would not
have an unduly harmful impact on the character of the surrounding area, or the residential
amenities of the neighbouring occupiers or existing occupiers of Alden Mead. The design is
considered to be sympathetic to the character of the existing building and the local pattern
of development.
INFORMATION
This application is reported to Planning Committee at the request of a nominated member
due to objections raised by neighbours and therefore falls within proviso A of the Scheme of
Delegation.
Statutory Return Type:
Council Interest:
Net additional Floorspace:

Minor Development
None
131sqm (118sqm of which is attributed to the
flats)

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

33

GLA Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
£7,860
Contribution (provisional)
£60/sqm:
Local CIL requirement £14,410
(provisional) £110/sqm:

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
EQUALITIES
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities obligations
including its obligations under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.
For the purposes of this application there are no adverse equalities issues.
S17 CRIME & DISORDER ACT
Policy D11 of The London Plan (2021) and Policy DM1 of the Development Management
Polices Local Plan require all new developments to have regard to safety and the measures
to reduce crime in the design of development proposal. It is considered that the development
does not adversely affect crime risk.

1.0

SITE DESCRIPTION

1.1

The site is located on the north eastern side of The Avenue and comprises a threestorey purpose-built block of flats (containing 6 x self-contained, one- bedroom
units) named ‘Alden Mead’. The building is of 1960’s architectural character,
consisting of mainly brick with timber weatherboard features. The existing building
is set back approximately 11m from The Avenue, which is consistent with the
established building line. There is a generous amount of open green space to the
front and rear, which contains trees and vegetation, with on tree at the front
boundary being covered by a Tree Protection Order (TPO)

1.2

The existing building is set towards the middle of the site and benefits from
uncovered parking, three garages and a bin store at the rear.

1.3

An access drive is located at the northern part of the site running from the street to
the rear parking area. It also provides access to the existing building which has its
entrance on the northern side to a shared stairwell.

1.4

Sandy Lodge is located to the north west of the site and comprises a similar three
storey purpose built 1960s era residential dwelling, albeit this building is slightly
taller than the subject site (likely due to modestly higher internal floor to ceiling
heights).

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

34

1.5

To the south east of the subject site is No.12 The Avenue which comprises
detached two storey dwelling house of traditional design.

2.0

PROPOSAL

2.1

The application seeks full planning permission for construction of a third storey
extension to the existing Alden Mead, to create two additional one-bedroom flats.

2.2

The development would result in an increase in height of the building from
approximately 7.85m to a maximum height of 10.9m (main parapet height of
10.83m). The additional storey would contain a slight pitch and projecting dormers
to give a modern mansard form.

2.3

The proposed flats would match the layout and size of those below being one
bedroom, two-person dwellings.

2.4

No additional formal parking is proposed on the site, the existing bin-store will be
retained and additional cycle parking will be provided within a purpose built
structure within the rear yard and will to cater for all the dwellings on the site
(including existing units).

2.5

The site contains substantial communal amenity space at both the front and area,
which would not be impacted by the development, other than where the new cycle
store and associated permeable paving is proposed.

2.6

The following amendments and additional information has been submitted to this
application:
•
•

Revised cycle parking and permeable paving
Revised design of additional storey to ensure appropriate floor to ceiling height
and balcony balustrade details.

3.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

There is no relevant planning history.

4.0

CONSULTATION

4.1

A total of 16 consultation letters were sent to neighbouring properties regarding
this application. The overall public consultation period expired on 5th July 2021.

4.2

Following further discussions the plans were revised relating to the design of the
additional storey and provision of a structure for cycle parking and increased
permeable hardstand. As such, a further consultation was carried out, expiring on
14th September.

4.3

The first consultation period expired on 5th July, the second expired on 14th
September. A total of 17 responses were received.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

35

4.4

A summary of the responses received along with the Officer comments are set out
below:
-

Shortfall of parking/traffic impact, misleading information on existing
parking (3 spaces not 6)
Comment: Please see section 6.5 below. The existing parking
arrangement is not a planning concern. The London Plan sets a maximum
parking rate, as such, no additional on-site parking is required for the
development. The Council’s transport team have confirmed that there will
be no parking or traffic impact.

-

Design/appearance/Height
Comment: Please see section 6.3 below.

-

Amenity impact, overlooking, overshadowing, views, noise from flats
above.
Comment: Please see section 6.4 below. No additional impact on existing
residents as wholly contained within the building footprint. The room layout
matches below so vertical stacking concerns are minimised. Only nonhabitable kitchen windows look to each neighbour, which in turn only has
non-habitable room windows in their side elevations. Additional
overshadowing will occur only to the side elevation and potentially part of
the rear garden, at certain times of day. No habitable rooms will be
overshadowed. The layout of the new units matches that of the units
below, as such, there will be no vertical stacking noise issues, building
regulations will be required to be followed in terms of sound insulation.

-

Insufficient outdoor amenity space
Comment: London Plan compliant private balcony space is provided for
each 1 bedroom unit. The existing shared outdoor space is appropriate for
two more additional units.

-

Construction disruption, structure issues, foul drainage/utility issues,
compensation should be given to existing residents or they should
be moved to hotels during works.
Comment: Not planning considerations

-

No disabled access – no lift proposed
Comment: As this is an addition to an existing building it would not be
expected to provide a lift. Nonetheless, this is not a planning consideration
and would be subject to relevant building regulations.

-

Overcrowding in staircase
Comment: Two additional 1bed, 2person units (resulting in potentially 4
additional adult residents) are not considered to adversely increase
congestion in the stairwell.

-

Impact on trees

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

36

Comment: The additional storey would take place within the building
footprint. The proposed cycle structure would be built away from a tree at
the rear, the proposed permeable paving is a ‘no-dig’ type which has been
reviewed by the Council’s tree officer and is considered acceptable. In any
case, the trees at the rear of the site are not protected. The existing TPO
tree at the very front boundary will be unaffected by the development.
Nonetheless, a tree protection condition for that tree will be imposed.
-

Fire Safety
Comment: Policy D12 of the London Plan requires fire safety compliance.
A condition of consent will be added. Note that building regulations in
relation to fire safety must also be complied with.

-

24 Hour Access required to existing garages
Comment: This is not a planning matter and will be a civil matter between
interested parties. It is expected that existing leasehold contract
arrangements are upheld.

-

Building is built in 1960s, not 1970s as stated in submission
Comment: Noted. This does not affect the assessment of the application.

4.5

Statutory and Non-Statutory Consultation

4.6

The following consultations have been undertaken, together with the responses
received and officer comments:
Hatch End Association
-

-

-

As with Cornwall Court and Devonshire Court, this application is made by
the Freeholder and as far as I am aware there has been no consultation
with the leaseholders and managing agents.
The proposed works will increase the housing density of the block but with
no additional recreational or car parking space for the residents and with
higher utilisation of the common parts. The leaseholders appear to have no
rights in their leases and will face the long term issues, whilst the freeholder
has short term objectives only with no regard to the quality of life in the
development.
The height of the building following the addition of another storey will be
significantly higher than the adjacent buildings. It will look out of place in
the road and impact the street scene and local environment.
There are no apartment blocks or houses higher than three storeys on the
Royston Park Estate which has regularly been cited by Harrow Council as
representing all that is best in Harrow. This development would set
precedent for higher buildings in the whole area and we believe that this
would be detrimental to the local residents.
The apartment block lies in a restricted parking area in The Avenue. The
three existing garages are insufficient for the current leaseholders and
there is minimal external parking available. The addition of a 33% increase
in densification will put pressure on the existing leaseholders and external
residents parking on the road.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

37

-

Finally, although not a planning matter (within the new legislation) there is
something fundamentally wrong with the balance of rights between the
freeholder and the leaseholder. We believe that the leaseholders should
have rights to compensation by the freeholder if this development should
proceed with additional facilities for the block, a contribution to their sinking
fund for long term maintenance, and financial contribution to recognise the
disruption caused by any construction to the lives of the leaseholders. I
have raised this principle with our MP David Simmonds and he has written
to Robert Jenrick at the Ministry of Housing which seem to assume the
leaseholders have rights against extensions under their current leases –
this is not the case.
LBH Highways
-

The addition of two one bedroom flats is a fairly small proposal and unlikely
to result in a severe highways impact.
- No additional parking is proposed which is in line with maximum parking
standards which allows up to 0.75 space per dwelling; for a total of 8 flats,
this would be no more than 6 parking spaces.
- It is considered that there is sufficient on-street capacity for the small
amount of parking that this proposal could generate.
- As an alternative to car use, this site is a short walk from Hatch End
overground station and bus stops on Uxbridge Road. The proximity to a
supermarket and shops nearby in Hatch End also support car-free living.
- We would require cycle parking in line with London Plan 2021 minimum
requirements (Policy T5, Table 10.2) – they should take the opportunity to
provide a secure and sheltered facility for all of the flats, plus short stay
stands near to the entrance/exit for visitors.
- Highways have no objection to this proposal.
LBH Waste Management Team
• No comments received.
Arboricultural Officer
•

Acceptable subject to condition to protect TPO tree during construction.

Urban Design Officer
Context
• The Avenue is characterised by a high mix of architectural styles and periods
and as such the proposed incremental development and densification lends
itself well to enhancing and not significantly altering the character of the
street scene and wider area.
• The immediate context features a flatted block of a similar character (Sandy
Lodge) immediately to the north-west and beyond this the recently completed
Heathlands Point development. Immediately opposite are the similarly sized
three-storey blocks Rosemary Court and Ashwood.
Massing, Scale & Built Form
• The additional storey would have a minimal impact on the character of the
area as well as to daylight and sunlight access for neighbouring properties.
______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

38

Internal Layout, Aspect & Orientation
• The two units proposed appear to be well-considered and there are no major
issues with the general arrangements or GIA, which exceeds that of the
London Plan 2021.
External Appearance, Composition & Materiality
• The cladding material chosen for the proposed additional storey features
shingles commonly associated with roofing and dormers, thus offering the
potential to be perceived as a more domestic development. This is of benefit
in treating the additional massing sensitively and reacting to the surrounding
suburban contextual grain. Details as to the proposed roofing material would
assist assessment of the external cladding.
• Window openings and inset balconies are respectful of the existing
fenestration and all elevations presented appear to successfully marry the
proposed storey with the existing building below.
• The slight chamfer/pitch to the front elevation's top storey is beneficial in
allowing the top storey to appear in deference to the established lower
storeys and not overly dominating.
• A balustrade which can match or suitably respond to the existing balcony
balustrading would be more appropriate than the glazed balustrade shown
and the Applicant is encouraged to address this.
LBH Drainage
•

No comments received

5.0

POLICIES

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that:
‘If regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose of any determination
to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in
accordance with the Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.’

5.2

The Government has issued the National Planning Policy Framework [NPPF 2021]
sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these should be
applied, and is a material consideration in the determination of this application.

5.3

In this instance, the Development Plan comprises The London Plan 2021 [LP] and
the Local Development Framework [LDF]. The LDF comprises The Harrow Core
Strategy 2012 [CS], Harrow and Wealdstone Area Action Plan 2013 [AAP], the
Development Management Policies Local Plan 2013 [DMP], the Site Allocations
Local Plan [SALP] 2013 and Harrow Local Area Map 2013 [LAP].

5.4

A full list of all the policies used in the consideration of this application is provided
as Informative 1.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

39

6.0

ASSESSMENT

6.1

The main issues are:
•
•
•
•
•

Principle of development
Character, Appearance, Design, Landscaping/Trees
Neighbouring Residential Amenity
Traffic, Parking and Servicing
Fire Safety

6.2

Principle of Development

6.2.1

The relevant policies are:
•
•
•
•

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
The London Plan (2021): H1, H2, H9
Harrow Development Management Policies (2013): DM24
Harrow's Core Strategy (2012): CS1

6.2.2

The proposal represents an extension to an existing residential building to create
additional units. There is no change of use and the increase in housing would
broadly comply with strategic housing policies at both London and local levels.

6.2.3

The proposal comprises two additional 1-bed flats, which creates an overall
building with 8 x 1 bedroom flats. Given that the development matches the layout
and size of the existing units, and makes use of the existing central stairwell, this
is considered to be the most appropriate layout and is therefore an acceptable mix.
As the proposal comprises fewer than 10 new units, there is no requirement for
affordable housing provision.

6.2.4

For the reason set out above, it is considered that the principle of this proposal
meets the above policy requirements with regard to the overarching goal of
housing choice and provision.

6.3

Character, Appearance and Design

6.3.1

The relevant policies are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
The London Plan (2021): D3, D5, D6, D11, G7
Harrow Development Management Policies (2013): DM1, DM2, DM22, DM23,
DM27
Harrow's Core Strategy (2012): CS1
Mayor of London Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016)
Supplementary Planning Document Residential Design Guide (2010)
Technical housing standards - nationally described space standard (2016)

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

40

Mass, Siting and Design
6.3.2

The site comprises a single block of flats that fronts The Avenue and contains
landscaped grounds, access and a parking area at the rear. The building is
understood to have been constructed around 1960s and is 3 storeys high with a
flat roof. The context of the site is a residential area comprising 2-storey houses
and 2-3 storey blocks of flats. The immediate context features a flatted block of a
similar character (Sandy Lodge) immediately to the north-west and beyond this the
recently completed Heathlands Point development. Immediately opposite are the
similarly sized three-storey blocks Rosemary Court and Ashwood. To the south
east is a two storey, detached dwelling house.

6.3.3

The proposal would add an additional storey to the existing building. This relatively
modest increase in height would not be considered in itself to be at odds with the
overall local pattern of development which comprises a varied mix of building styles
and heights. A number of other buildings of similar height (whether by roof
height/scale or 4 storeys) can be seen in the wider area including: Ashwood House,
15 The Avenue, No.6 The Avenue and No.4 The Avenue. Thus, the increase
would not appear dominating or obtrusive in the street scene. Furthermore, the
height is only 1.12m higher than the ridge height of No.12 to the south east which
acts as an appropriate context for the proposed height.

6.3.4

The cladding material chosen for the proposed additional storey features shingles
which are commonly associated with roofing and dormers and is considered
appropriate to the host building and the character of the streetscene. The proposed
balustrades have been revised to match those of the existing building on the advice
of the Council’s Design Officer and are therefore considered acceptable.

6.3.5.

The proposed window openings and inset balconies are respectful of the existing
fenestration and all elevations presented are considered to successfully marry the
proposed storey with the existing building below.

6.3.6.

The slight chamfer/pitch, giving the appearance of a modern mansard, with slight
projecting dormers, is beneficial in allowing the top storey to appear in deference
to the established lower storeys and is not overly dominating. It also introduces a
domestic design, which takes references from the design and appearance of varied
nature of development along The Avenue.

6.3.7

The proposed cycle parking structure would be located within the rear yard and
would measure approximately 2.85m (W) x 4m (D) x 2.8m (H). The structure would
be a mono-pitched design to be similar in appearance of the existing garages at
the rear. The proposed structure is modest is size, located at the rear so as not to
be visible from the street and is considered to be acceptable.
Internal Layout and Design

6.3.8

The proposed flats would exceed the minimum space standards, including Gross
Internal Area (GIA) and built-in storage, with good internal circulation. The London
Plan requires that the GIA of 1bedoom 2person flats is 50sqm, the development

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

41

proposes 2 flats of 59sqm. A minimum of 1.5sqm of storage space is proposed,
both flats exceed this amount of storage space. Policy D6 of The London Plan
requires 75% of the GIA to have a floor to ceiling height of 2.5m. Approximately
74.5% of each unit has a floor to ceiling height of 2.5m. This minor breach is
considered acceptable and will not have a detrimental impact on future occupants.
6.3.9

Each unit is dual aspect and matches the layout and orientation of the existing
units below. As such, the development ensures that all habitable rooms are
provided with windows which would allow for good outlook and natural light, with
reasonable levels of privacy to habitable rooms. As the development matches the
layout of the units below there is no overlaps in terms of habitable/non-habitable
room stacking between floors. Concerns have been raised about noise transfer by
occupiers of the existing flats, the development matches the layout of existing units
and therefore no-adverse room stacking results. The proposal would be subject
to building control regulations which would ensure suitable sound mitigation is
implemented.

6.3.10

The new units would be provided with individual private amenity space, matching
those below and would be approximately 5sqm, which complies with the London
Plan requirements. Additionally, the building is provided with a generous amount
of communal green space which can be utilised by the new occupants.

6.3.11

The proposal would thereby provide a suitable quality of living accommodations
for future occupiers.
Accessibility

6.3.12

It is acknowledged that the flats are at upper floor level and so would not be suitable
for wheelchair users. However, the proposal would be subject to building control
regulations to ensure that the proposed flats would meet regulation Part M4 (2);
and the existing development has level access at the front entrance. Given the
scale and nature of the proposal, this would be considered sufficient.
Landscaping/Trees

6.3.13

As noted above, the site is landscaped at the front and rear with communal garden
area which can be accessed by all residents. The development only seeks to alter
part of the rear yard to provide the cycle parking structure and associated
permeable hardstanding. It is not considered to be within the scope of this
application to require additional enhancements to the already appropriate
landscaped communal area.

6.3.14

The proposed cycle parking structure would be located away from a nearby tree.
The proposed hardstanding to access the cycle parking is permeable and a ‘nodig’ type which has been reviewed by the Council’s tree officer who has confirmed
it is acceptable. In any case, the tree in question is not protected.

6.3.15

There is an existing TPO at the front boundary, adjacent to the driveway. The
development will not be located near this tree. As such, there is no harm to the

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

42

TPO tree and a standard condition of consent can be imposed to ensure it is
protected and retained during construction.
Summary
6.3.16

In summary, the proposal is considered to be of an appropriate design for its
context and would provide a suitable quality of accommodation for future
occupiers. Subject to the above detailed conditions, the development would accord
with the relevant policies of the development plan as set out above.

6.4

Neighbouring Residential Amenity

6.4.1

The relevant policies are:
•
•
•
•

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
The London Plan (2021): D6
Harrow Development Management Policies (2013): DM1
Harrow's Core Strategy (2012): CS1

Impact of Development on Neighbouring Amenity
6.4.2

The proposal would not increase the footprint of the main building, but would
increase its height by approximately 3m. This increase is relatively modest in the
context of the scale of the existing building. In addition, the building is sited
approximately 11m from the front boundary, which is consistent with the
established building line and ensures that the additional height is not overbearing
when seen from the street.

6.4.3

With regard to Sandy Court to the north west, there is a gap of approximately 6.3m
between the flank elevations of each building. Furthermore, only kitchen or nonhabitable room windows face the shared boundary on either site, as flats in both
developments are orientated to the front/rear with only secondary and nonhabitable room windows facing the side. As such, there will be no adverse amenity
impact on Sandy Court in relation to overlooking, overshadowing or outlook

6.4.4

In relation to No.12 The Avenue, to the south east of the subject site, there is a
gap of approximately 4.7m between the buildings. No.12 has some
secondary/non-habitable room windows facing the shared boundary. However, as
with Sandy Court, the building is orientated to take advantage of views to the front
and rear, rather than over the shared boundary. It should also be noted that the
main bulk of the subject building is already higher than the eaves of No.12, as
such, any outlook potential from those side facing non-habitable rooms is already
heavily compromised by the existing built form and the additional storey will not
make the existing situation substantially worse in this regard. As the proposal is to
the north west of No.12 there will be no additional overshadowing caused (do to
the track of the sun from east to west in a southerly arc).

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

43

Amenity of Existing Occupiers
6.4.5

Objections have been raised in relation to the loss of outlook, privacy and
disturbance. As the proposal is located within the existing building footprint there will
be no adverse overlooking, overshadowing or impact on outlook to existing
residents.

6.4.6

Concerns raised by existing occupiers regarding room stacking are discussed
above. Issues relating to plumbing and water services are outside the scope of this
application.
Summary

6.4.7

In conclusion, it is considered that the proposal would not result in any undue
impacts on residential amenity for neighbouring occupiers or occupiers of the
existing development, subject to conditions as detailed above, and thus would
comply with the relevant policies with regard to residential amenity.

6.5

Traffic, Parking, Servicing and Fire Safety

6.5.1

The relevant policies are:
•
•
•
•
•

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
The London Plan (2021): T4, T5, T6, D12
Harrow Development Management Policies (2013): DM42, DM45
Harrow's Core Strategy (2012): CS1
Code of Practice for the Storage of Waste in Domestic Properties

6.5.2

The site has a PTAL (Public Transport Accessibility Level) of 2 (poor). However,
PTAL is calculated via an algorithm which, whilst generally accurate, does not
always reflect the real connectivity of the site in question. In this case, the site is a
5min walk from Hatch End Overground Station, and approximately 8mins walk
from Hatch End town centre which contains a supermarket and other retail outlets,
and is served by buses H12 and H14.

6.5.3

The London Plan permits a maximum of 0.75spaces per dwelling in PTAL 2 areas
in outer London. The development does not propose any additional on-site
parking, which complies with this maximum London Plan allowance. Furthermore,
the application has been reviewed by the Council’s highways officer who has
confirmed that there is sufficient on-street capacity for the small amount of parking
that this proposal could generate. They also noted that as an alternative to car
use, this site is a short walk from Hatch End overground station and bus stops on
Uxbridge Road. The proximity to a supermarket and shops nearby in Hatch End
also support car-free living.

6.5.4

The existing waste storage area is located at the rear of the site and is capable of
providing sufficient waste storage for all the units on site, in accordance with
Harrow’s Code of Practice for the Storage of Waste in Domestic Properties
document.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

44

6.5.5

Additional covered and secure cycle parking for 10 cycles is proposed at the rear
of the site in a purpose built structure and 2 short stay spaces are proposed
adjacent to the main entrance. This has been reviewed by the Council’s transport
officer and found to be considered acceptable.

6.5.6

Given that construction works would be carried out whilst existing residents are in
situ, it is considered appropriate that a construction logistics plan is provided prior
to commencement; which should follow the guidance and format specified by
TfL/CLOCS. This has also been secured by condition. This will include mitigation
measures to help control noise and other impacts on neighbouring and existing
occupiers. Additionally, separate legislation outside of planning governs allowable
construction working hours.

6.5.7

In summary, the proposal would not be considered to result in a significant increase
in traffic and parking impacts, and servicing arrangements are considered
satisfactory. It is thereby considered that the proposal would accord with the
relevant development plan policies as set out above.

6.6

Fire Safety

6.6.1

Policy D12 of The London Plan requires all development to meet standards of fire
safety. Therefore, a condition has been attached to ensure the converted
property meets this requirement.

7.0

CONCLUSION AND REASONS FOR APPROVAL

7.1

The proposed scheme would make a small contribution to housing stock in the
borough; and would provide a suitable quality of accommodation for future
occupiers without unduly impacting neighbouring residential amenity. The uplift in
dwellings would not result in traffic and parking impacts which would be considered
significant, and the revised parking arrangements are considered to be acceptable
and functional.

7.2

For these reasons, weighing up the development plan policies and proposals, and
other material considerations including comments received in response to
notification and consultation as set out above, this application is recommended for
grant.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

45

APPENDIX 1: Conditions and Informatives
Conditions
1

Time Limit 3 years - Full Permission
The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.
REASON: In order to comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.

2

Approved Drawing and Documents
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, the development
shall be carried out, retained and completed in accordance with the following
approved drawings and documents:
Design and Access Statement (dated May 2021); L01.101; L01.105; L01.201;
L01.202; L03.201; L04.101; L04.102; L04.103; L04.104; L04.201; L04.202;
L04.203
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3

Demolition and Construction Logistics Plan (Pre-commencement)
No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a detailed
demolition and construction logistics plan has first been submitted to the Local
Planning Authority in writing to be agreed. The plan shall detail the arrangements
for:
a)
the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
b)
loading and unloading of plant and materials;
c)
storage of plant and materials used in construction the development;
d)
the erection and maintenance of security hoardings including decorative
displays and facilities for public viewing;
e)
wheel washing facilities;
f)
a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works;
g)
measures for the control and reduction of dust;
h)
measures for the control and reduction of noise and vibration; and
i)
How traffic would be managed to minimise disruption.
The demolition and construction of the development shall be carried out in
accordance with the plan so agreed.
REASON: To ensure that measures are put in place to manage and reduce noise
and vibration impacts during demolition and construction and to safeguard the
amenity of neighbouring occupiers, and to ensure that the transport network impact
of demolition and construction work associated with the development is managed.
To ensure that measures are agreed and in place to manage and reduce dust,

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

46

noise and vibration during the demolition and construction phases of the
development and manage transport impacts during the demolition and construction
phases of the development. This condition is a PRE-COMMENCEMENT condition
as the proposed measures must be in place prior to commencement of works.
4.

Materials
Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved drawings, the development,
hereby permitted shall not commence until samples of the materials to be used in
the construction of the external surfaces noted below have been made available to
view on site, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority:
a)

facing materials and roof tiles for the buildings;

b)

balcony balustrades (to match the design/appearance and materiality of
the existing balustrades); and

c)

windows/ doors.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so agreed and
shall be retained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out to the highest standards
of architecture and materials.
5.

Trees
During construction works all trees on site shall be retained. Protective fencing
shall be erected around the root protection area (excluding the driveway) of the
Tree Preservation Order Tree within the front garden (Tree T10, TPO No.252).
Fencing shall be erected before any equipment, machinery or materials are
brought on to the site for the purposes of the development, and shall be
maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been
removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in
accordance with this condition, and the ground levels within those areas shall not
be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the written consent of the
local planning authority.
REASON: The existing trees represent an important amenity feature which the
local planning authority considers should be protected.

6.

Communal Television Equipment (Pre-Occupation)
The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until additional details
of a strategy for the provision of communal facilities for television reception (e.g.
aerials, dishes and other such equipment) has been be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the specific
size and location of all equipment. The approved details shall be implemented prior
to the first occupation of the development and shall be retained thereafter. No other
television reception equipment shall be introduced onto the walls or the roof of the
building without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

47

Reason: In order to prevent the proliferation of individual television reception items
on the building which would be harmful to the character and appearance of the
building and the visual amenity of the area.
7.

Refuse Storage
The refuse and waste bins shall be stored at all times, other than on collection days,
within the designated refuse storage areas as shown on the approved plans.
REASON: To enhance the appearance of the development and safeguard the
character and appearance of the area.

8

Part M Dwellings
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to the specifications of:
“Part M, M4 (2), Category 2: Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings” of the Building
Regulations 2013 and thereafter retained in that form.
REASON: To ensure that the development is capable of meeting ‘Accessible and
Adaptable Dwellings’ standards.

9.

Fire Safety
The development herein approved shall commence until a Fire Safety Statement
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, this
statement shall include details of how the development will function in terms of the
following:
1)

2)

3)
4)
5)

6)

identify suitably positioned unobstructed outside space: a) for fire
appliances to be positioned on b) appropriate for use as an evacuation
assembly point;
is designed to incorporate appropriate features which reduce the risk to
life and the risk of serious injury in the event of a fire; including
appropriate fire alarm systems and passive and active fire safety
measures;
is constructed in an appropriate way to minimise the risk of fire spread;
provide suitable and convenient means of escape, and associated
evacuation strategy for all building users;
develop a robust management strategy for evacuation which is to be
periodically updated and published (details of how often this
management strategy is to be reviewed and published to be included),
and which all building users can have confidence in; and
provide suitable access and equipment for firefighting which is appropriate
for the size and use of the development.
The development shall be operated in accordance with the approved details
in perpetuity.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

48

REASON: To ensure that the fire safety of the proposed building is managed
in a satisfactory manner and that the development contributes to fire safety
in line with Policy D12A of the London Plan (2021).

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

49

Informatives
1

Policies
The following policies and guidance are relevant to this decision:
National Planning Policy and Guidance:
National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
The London Plan (2021):
D3, D5, D6, D11, D12, D14, H1, H2, H9, T4; T5; T6.1, G7
Harrow Core Strategy (2012):
CS1
Development Management Policies Local Plan (2013):
DM1, DM2, DM20, DM21, DM23, DM22, DM23, DM24, DM27, DM42, DM44; DM45
Adopted Supplementary Planning Documents:
London Plan Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016)
Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Design Guide (2010)
Council’s Code of Practice for the Storage and Collection of Refuse and Materials
for Recycling in Domestic Properties (February 2016)

2

Pre-application engagement
Statement under Article 35(2) of The Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedures) (England) Order 2015. This decision has been taken in
accordance with paragraphs 39-42 of The National Planning Policy Framework.
Harrow Council has a pre-application advice service and actively encourages
applicants to use this service. Please note this for future reference prior to
submitting any future planning applications.

3

Considerate Contractor Code of Practice
The applicant's attention is drawn to the requirements in the attached Considerate
Contractor Code of Practice, in the interests of minimising any adverse effects
arising from building operations, and in particular the limitations on hours of
working.

4

Party Wall Act
The Party Wall etc. Act 1996 requires a building owner to notify and obtain formal
agreement from adjoining owner(s) where the building owner intends to carry out
building work which involves:
1. work on an existing wall shared with another property;
2. building on the boundary with a neighbouring property;
3. excavating near a neighbouring building,
and that work falls within the scope of the Act.
Procedures under this Act are quite separate from the need for planning permission
or building regulations approval.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

50

“The Party Wall etc. Act 1996: Explanatory booklet” is available free of charge from:
Communities and Local Government Publications, PO Box 236, Wetherby, LS23
7NB
Please quote Product code: 02 BR 00862 when ordering
Also available for download from the CLG website:
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/ 133214.pdf
Tel: 0870 1226 236 Fax: 0870 1226 237
Textphone: 0870 1207 405
E-mail: communities@twoten.com
5

Compliance with Planning Conditions
IMPORTANT: Compliance With Planning Conditions Requiring
Submission and
Approval of Details Before Development Commences - You will be in breach of
planning permission if you start development without complying with a condition
requiring you to do something before you start. For example, that a scheme or
details of the development must first be approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Carrying out works in breach of such a condition will not satisfy the requirement to
commence the development within the time permitted.- Beginning development in
breach of a planning condition will invalidate your planning permission.
- If you require confirmation as to whether the works you have carried out
are acceptable, then you should apply to the Local Planning Authority for a
certificate of lawfulness.

6

Liability for Damage to Highway
The applicant is advised to ensure that the highway is not interfered with or
obstructed at any time during the execution of any works on land adjacent to a
highway. The applicant is liable for any damage caused to any footway, footpath,
grass verge, vehicle crossing, carriageway or highway asset. Please report any
damage to nrswa@harrow.gov.uk or telephone 020 8424 1884 where assistance
with the repair of the damage is available, at the applicants expense. Failure to
report any damage could result in a charge being levied against the property.

7

Surface and foul water connections
The applicant is advised that the Drainage Authority in Harrow recommends the
submission of a drainage plan, for their approval, indicating all surface and foul
water connections and their outfall details. Please also note that separate systems
are used in Harrow for surface water and foul water discharge. Please email
infrastructure@harrow.gov.uk with your plans.

8

Thames Water
The applicant can contact Thames Water developer services by email:
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk or by phone: 0800 009 3921 or on
Thames Water website www.developerservices.co.uk for drainage connections
consent.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

51

9

Street Numbering
Harrow Council is responsible for the naming and numbering of new or existing
streets and buildings within the borough boundaries. The council carries out these
functions under the London Government Act 1963 and the London Building Acts
(Amendment) Act 1939.
All new developments, sub division of existing properties or changes to street
names or numbers will require an application for official Street Naming and
Numbering (SNN). If you do not have your development officially named/numbered,
then then it will not be officially registered and new owners etc. will have difficulty
registering with utility companies etc.
You can apply for SNN by contacting technicalservices@harrow.gov.uk or on the
following
link.
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/info/100011/transport_and_streets/1579/street_naming
_and_numbering

10

Mayoral CIL
Please be advised that approval of this application (either by Harrow Council, or
subsequently by the Planning Inspectorate if allowed on appeal following a refusal
by Harrow Council) will attract a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) liability, which
is payable upon the commencement of development. This charge is levied under
s.206 of the Planning Act 2008 Harrow Council, as CIL collecting authority, has
responsibility for the collection of the Mayoral CIL
The Provisional Mayoral CIL liability for the application, based on the Mayoral CIL
levy rate for Harrow of £60/sqm is £7,860
The floorspace subject to CIL may also change as a result of more detailed
measuring and taking into account any in-use floor space and relief grants (i.e. for
example, social housing).
You are advised to visit the planningportal website where you can download the
appropriate document templates.
Please complete and return the Assumption of Liability Form 1 and CIL Additional
Information Form 0.
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_1_assumption_of_liabi
lity.pdf
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/cil_questions.pdf
If you have a Commencement Date please also complete CIL Form 6:
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_6_commencement_no
tice.pdf
The above forms should be emailed to HarrowCIL@Harrow.gov.uk
Please note that the above forms must be completed and provided to the Council
prior to the commencement of the development; failure to do this may result in
surcharges and penalties

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

52

11

Harrow CIL
Harrow has a Community Infrastructure Levy which applies Borough wide for
certain developments of over 100sqm gross internal floor space.
Harrow's Charges are:
Residential (Use Class C3) - £110 per sqm;
Hotels (Use Class C1), Residential Institutions except Hospitals, (Use Class C2),
Student Accommodation, Hostels and HMOs (Sui generis) - £55 per sqm;
Retail (Use Class A1), Financial & Professional Services (Use Class A2),
Restaurants and Cafes (Use Class A3) Drinking Establishments (Use Class A4)
Hot Food Takeaways (Use Class A5) - £100 per sqm
All other uses - Nil.
The Provisional Harrow CIL liability for the application, based on the Harrow CIL
levy rate for Harrow of £110/sqm is £14,410
This amount includes indexation which is 326/224. The floorspace subject to CIL
may also change as a result of more detailed measuring and taking into account
any in-use floor space and relief grants (i.e. for example, social housing).
The CIL Liability is payable upon the commencement of development.
You are advised to visit the planningportal website where you can download the
relevant CIL Forms.
Please complete and return the Assumption of Liability Form 1 and CIL Additional
Information Form 0.
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_1_assumption_of_liabi
lity.pdf
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/cil_questions.pdf
If you have a Commencement Date please also complete CIL Form 6:
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_6_commencement_no
tice.pdf
The above forms should be emailed to HarrowCIL@Harrow.gov.uk
Please note that the above forms must be completed and provided to the Council
prior to the commencement of the development; failure to do this may result in
surcharges

12. INFORM67 - Fire Safety Statement.
The submission/approval of the Fire Safety Statement does not replace the need
for building regulation approval in relation to fire safety, nor does it convey or
imply any approval under those regulations.
CHECKED

Interim Head of Development
Management
Corporate Director

06/10/2021
07/10/2021

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

53

APPENDIX 2: SITE PLAN

Site Plan

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

54

APPENDIX 3: SITE PHOTOGRAPHS

As seen from The Avenue:

Front:

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

55

Main entrance at side:

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

56

Rear (location of proposed cycle store:

Rear:

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

57

Garages at rear:

Garages and existing Bin Store:

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

58

Garage at rear:

Rear of Site viewed from Cedar Drive to the south west

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

59

Sandy lodge (neighbour to the north)

Side of Sandy Lodge facing subject site:

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

60

No12 to the south:

Side of No.12 facing subject site:

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

61

APPENDIX 4: PLANS AND ELEVATIONS
Existing Front and Rear) Elevation

(Front)

(rear)

Proposed Front and Rear

(front)

(rear)

Existing side elevations

(north)

(South)

Proposed side elevations:

(north)

(south)

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

62

Proposed additional storey:

Proposed cycle store:

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

63

3D Images:

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

64

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

65

This page has been left intentionally blank

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
Alden Mead 14 The Avenue, HA5 4ES
Wednesday 20th October 2021

66

Agenda Item 12.(b)
Pages 67 to 110

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

67

Agenda Item : 2/02

= application site

42 Chartley Avenue, HA7 3QZ

P/2912/21

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

68

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

69

LONDON BOROUGH OF HARROW
PLANNING COMMITTEE
20th October 2021
APPLICATION NUMBER:
VALIDATION DATE:
LOCATION:
WARD:
POSTCODE:
APPLICANT:
AGENT:
CASE OFFICER:
EXTENDED EXPIRY DATE:

P/2912/21
13/07/2021
42 CHARTLEY AVENUE, HA7 3QZ
STANMORE PARK
HA7 3QZ
MR NORMAN SLATER
JACK DUSEK + CO
JAMES GARSIDE
20/09/2021

PROPOSAL
Redevelopment to provide one pair of two storey semi detached dwellings; proposed
vehicle access; parking; bin stores (demolition of outbuildings and side conservatory to
existing dwelling)
The Planning Committee is asked to consider the following recommendation:
RECOMMENDATION
1) To agree the reasons for approval as set out in this report, and
2) To grant planning permission subject to subject to the Conditions listed in Appendix 1
of this report.
REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
The site is considered to constitutes a genuine gap site, falling within the exceptions
detailed in the adopted Garden Land Development SPD (2013), and the principle of
additional dwellings on the site is accepted and would comply with the housing growth
objectives and policies of the Harrow Development Plan.
The scale and design of the proposed dwellings is compatible with the character and
appearance of the surrounding area and a good standard of accommodation is being
provided. In this respect, the reasons for refusal of the previous application (P/1312/21)
have been addressed. The proposal would not have an adverse impact on the amenity of
adjoining properties.
Accordingly, weighing up the development plan policies and proposals, and other material
considerations including comments received in response to notification and consultation as
set out below, officers conclude that the application is worthy of support.
______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

70

INFORMATION
This application is reported to Planning Committee at the request of a nominated member
in the public interest.
Statutory Return Type:
Council Interest:
Net additional Floorspace:
GLA Community Infrastructure Levy
(CIL) Contribution (provisional):
Local CIL requirement:

Minor Development
None
232.7 sqm
£13,962
£25,597

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
EQUALITIES
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities obligations
including its obligations under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.
For the purposes of this application there are no adverse equalities issues.
S17 CRIME & DISORDER ACT
Policy D11 of the London Plan (2021) and Policy DM1 of the Development Management
Polices Local Plan require all new developments to have regard to safety and the
measures to reduce crime in the design of development proposal. It is considered that the
development does not adversely affect crime risk. However, a condition has been
recommended for evidence of certification of Secure by Design Accreditation for the
development to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
before any part of the development is occupied or used.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

71

1.0

SITE DESCRIPTION

1.1

The application site relates to no. 42 Chartley Avenue. The site itself has a
broadly square form and is occupied by a two storey detached dwellinghouse
that it is located towards the northern part of the site. The property benefits from
a large side garden. A secondary vehicle access with associated hardstanding
that provides access to detached garages is sited adjacent to the southern
boundary of the subject site. The subject dwellinghouse has been extended by
means of a single storey rear extension and a side conservatory.

1.2

No 40 Chartley Avenue, a semi-detached bungalow, adjoins the application site
to the north. No 46 Chartley Avenue, a detached two-storey dwellinghouse,
adjoins the application site to the south.

1.3

The application site is located within a Critical Drainage Area

2

PROPOSAL

2.1

Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing side conservatory
to No. 42 Chartley Avenue and the garages, and to construct a new two-storey
building within the side garden of that property to provide a pair of semi-detached
dwellings.

2.2

The proposed building has a depth of 10.7m, a total width of 12.9m and height of
7.9m with a hipped roof and a projecting ground floor element.

2.3

Soft landscaping and refuse storage is proposed in the forecourt area along with
car parking for two cars with new access points to the existing highway being
formed. Cycle storage is provided in the rear gardens.

2.4

The rear garden is proposed to be segregated to provide a private outdoor
amenity space for each of the dwellings.

3

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

A summary of the relevant planning application history is set out in the table
below:
Ref no.
P/1346/20

P/1312/21

Description

Status and date of
decision
Outline Planning Permission For Granted
Access Only: Detached Two Storey 24/07/2020
Dwellinghouse At Land To Side
No.42 (Demolition Of Conservatory
At No.42)
Redevelopment to provide one pair Refused
of
two
storey
semi-detached 21/05/2021

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

72

dwellings; proposed vehicle access;
parking; bin stores (demolition of
outbuildings and side conservatory
to existing dwelling)
Reasons for refusal:
1. The proposed development, by
reason of its layout, siting, scale,
massing, and appearance would
give rise to a cramped, obtrusive
and dominant addition that would be
visually intrusive, discordant and
would amount to overdevelopment
of the site and fail to represent a
high quality of design, harmfully
detracting from the surrounding
pattern of development and the
character and appearance of the
locality, contrary to the high quality
design aspirations of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019),
policy D3(1,11) of The London Plan
(2021), Core Policy CS1B of the
Harrow Core Strategy (2012), Policy
DM1 of the Harrow Development
Management Policies Local Plan
(2013)
and
the
adopted
Supplementary Planning Document
Residential Design Guide (2010)
2.
The
proposed
new
dwellinghouse, by reason of the
shortfall in the bedroom sizes for a
family sized unit, would fail to
provide a new residential unit with a
high standard of layout, design and
quality, and would result in a
substandard level and cramped
form of living accommodation to the
detriment of the future occupiers of
the residential unit, contrary to the
National Planning Policy Framework
(2019), Policy D6 of The London
Plan (2021), Policy DM1 of the
Harrow Development Management
Policies Local Plan (2013), the
Mayor
of
Londons
Housing
Supplementary Planning Guidance
(2016)
and
the
adopted
Supplementary Planning Document
______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

73

Residential Design Guide (2010)
3.
The
proposed
new
dwellinghouse, by reason of the
location of main entrance within the
flank elevation in conjunction with
the limited width of the side access,
would result in a narrow, awkward
and contrived access that would be
at odds with the established pattern
of development, character and
appearance of the locality and
would give rise to an increased
perception and fear of crime for the
future occupiers, contrary to the
high quality design aspirations of the
National Planning Policy Framework
(2019), policies D3(1,11), D6 and
D11 of The London Plan (2021),
Core Policy CS1B of the Harrow
Core Strategy (2012), Policy DM1 of
the
Harrow
Development
Management Policies Local Plan
(2013) the Mayor of Londons
Housing Supplementary Planning
Guidance (2016) and the adopted
Supplementary Planning Document
Residential Design Guide (2010)

4

CONSULTATION

4.1

A total of 11 consultation letters were sent to neighbouring properties regarding
this application. The overall expiry date was 27th August 2021.

4.2

A re-consultation took place and a total of 11 consultation letters were sent to
neighbouring properties regarding this application. The overall expiry date of the
re-consultation was 13th September 2021.

4.3

A total of 6 responses has been received to date.

4.4

A summary of the responses received along with the Officer comments are set
out below:
Character and Appearance and Residential Amenity Impact
• Overdevelopment – cramped plot
• Unacceptable massing and scale
• Semi-detached properties not in keeping with street scene
• Terracing effect due to close proximity of No. 46 Chartley Avenue
• Gap site

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

74

•
•
•
•

Detrimental to the visual amenities of the neighbouring residents
Loss of light and overshadowing
Loss of privacy
Too close to substation

Biodiversity
• The site is home to birds, wildlife, trees and shrubs
Parking and Access
• No footpath outside of site currently – unsafe
• Chartley Avenue is narrow
• Not enough street parking to accommodate development
• Unsafe access to proposed parking spaces
• Unadopted road
• Concern over construction access, traffic and noise
Inaccuracy of plans
• No. 46 Chartley Avenue is not shown accurately on plans (Officer note
– new Site Plan received clarifying neighbour extension)
Officer response:
These points have been assessed within the body of the report

4.5

Statutory and Non Statutory Consultation

4.6

The following consultations have been undertaken, together with the responses
received and officer comments:
LBH Drainage
In line with our Development Management Policy 10, to make use of sustainable
drainage measures to control the rate and volume of surface water runoff, to
ensure separation of surface and foul water systems, make provision for storage
and demonstrate arrangements for the management and maintenance of the
measures used, the applicant should submit a surface water drainage
strategy.
• The applicant should submit drainage details in line with our standard
requirements attached.
• The applicant should consult Thames Water developer services by email:
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk or by phone: 0800 009 3921 or
on Thames Water website www.developerservices.co.uk regarding
capacity of their public sewers for receiving additional discharge from the
proposed development. The Thames Water confirmation letter should
be submitted.
Proposed Parking/Hardstanding:
The use of non-permeable surfacing impacts upon the ability of the environment
to absorb surface water, and hard surfacing of the front gardens and forecourts

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

75

lead to localised surface water flooding. Hence the requirement for surface water
to be contained within site and discharged to ground via the use of permeable
paving or other suitable options.
Please request the applicant to submit a cross section of permeable paving
construction with full details and their maintenance plan for our approval
Vehicle Crossing:
Please inform the applicant that the vehicle crossing should be constructed in
line with Harrow’s New Vehicle Crossing Policy. Please advise the applicant
to contact Vehicle Crossings Team on VehicleCrossings@harrow.gov.uk for
further guidance.
Please be informed that the requested details can be conditioned with our
standard pre commencement drainage conditions/informative
LBH Highways
This property is within a PTAL 2 location meaning access to public transport is
considered to be poor. Bus stops are within a 5 minute walk at both Kenton
Lane and Uxbridge Road where there are routes connecting to Stanmore,
Pinner, Edgware and Harrow Town Centre. A small parade of shops is available
within a 7 minute walk at Brockhurst Corner (Uxbridge Road/Kenton Lane/Clamp
Hill).
The proposal includes two car parking spaces for each house however, the
London Plan 2021 maximum parking standards for a PTAL 2 location allow up to
1 space per dwelling (3 bed+). 91.1% of households in the local area have
access to at least one car or van (Census 2011) and larger, family sized homes
tend to generate the highest demand. The provision of two new vehicle
crossings will be subject to a separate application to Highways as the land
fronting this part of the development is adopted highway. There is a small group
of trees within the adopted footway – the Council do not normally remove
healthy trees to facilitate provision of a vehicle crossing.
The proposed level of cycle parking is acceptable. However, further information
on the proposed stores is required; a suitable condition has been suggested
below.
This proposal is unlikely to result in a severe or harmful impact for the
surrounding highway network; Highways have no objection subject to the
following condition:
•

Before the development herby permitted is occupied, details of shelters,
racks, dimensions and location of the proposed long stay cycle parking
spaces shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The proposed cycle storage shall be made available prior to
occupation and shall be retained thereafter.
REASON: To ensure the satisfactory provision of safe cycle storage
facilities, to provide facilities for all the users of the site and in the

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

76

interests of highway safety and sustainable transport, in accordance with
policy T5 of The London Plan 2021 and policy DM 42 of the Harrow
Development Management Policies Local Plan (2013).
Email received on 02/09/2021 following receipt of revised plans:
• The revision in parking provision is welcomed.
Urban Design Officer
Context
•

•

Chartley Avenue is a predominantly single storey suburban road, with a
series of detached bungalows. However, the southern end of the road
where this site is located has a mix of housing scales and typologies, these
being of predominantly two storeys. For example, a two storey detached
home is located directly south of site and a two storey detached gable end
property directly to its north. This allows for greater height for this specific
site, whereby ordinarily two storeys would appear incongruous with
surrounding bungalow typologies and would not be appropriate. As such
the proposal is deemed to successfully integrate in its context.
A small electricity substation is located at the south-eastern corner of the
site, fronting Chartley Avenue. This is to be retained and should not directly
impact the appearance or use of proposed dwellings.

Site Strategy/ Masterplan
•

•
•

The use of the front of site to provide on-site parking is appropriate and
rear gardens appear to be divided in an equal manner given the irregular
shape of the rear of the site. Additional planting is proposed to the front
which will add to the character of Chartley Avenue and soften the new
development and associated hardstanding.
Bin storage is well considered and cycle storage to rear gardens with side
access is appropriate.
Proposed site plans indicate retention of a large conifer tree already on
site. This will likely impact the dwellings in terms of reduced daylight and
sunlight as well as foundations, due to the close proximity of external walls
to the tree. The Applicant should clarify if this tree is to be retained or
removed.

Public Realm & Landscaping
•

The scheme proposes the addition of three trees to the site boundary with
the pavement. Details of the planting to the frontage would be highly useful
in understanding the impact on the Chartley Avenue street scene.

Massing, Scale & Built Form
•

The proposed two storey height is appropriate for this specific site given it
is flanked to the north and south by two storey homes and the proposed
hipped roof form chamfers away from neighbouring properties, limiting

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

77

•

•

perceived massing. The proposed massing presents no significant issues
and would be a successful addition to the street scene.
The footprint of the proposed paired homes is of an appropriate size in
relation to surrounding properties and is well-positioned on site, with similar
flank wall distances to No 42 as between No 42 and No 40 as well as
similar distances from the proposed building to No 46. This results in an
appropriate rhythm to the street scene, which does not feel overly crowded,
with sufficient setback to transition from the building line of No 42 to 46.
There appears to be limited overlooking from the rear elevation to existing
properties and associated gardens. Where this occurs to No 1 Heather
Way, this would be no more intrusive than that caused by No 42 Chartley
Avenue, however there would be a cumulative effect. Existing planting to
the rear of the site may serve to screen both properties from one another.

Internal Layout, Aspect & Orientation
•

•

The orientation of window openings and outlook within properties is
predominantly east-west, limiting the amount of overlooking and outlook to
neighbouring properties to north and south (solely window openings for
bathrooms at first floor). This approach is successful and respects the
privacy of neighbouring properties whilst maximising the western garden
aspect for daylight and sunlight.
There are no concerns over the internal layout, however the Applicant
may wish to amend the ground floor layout to allow the lounge and kitchen
spaces to be part of one space.

External Appearance, Composition & Materiality
•

•
•

•

In general, the exterior design is of a pleasing and satisfactory
appearance, with mirrored elevations forming a symmetrical semi-detached
pair.
The proposal for Sandtoft plain clay roof tiles is supported and highly
welcomed as is the use of the proposed brick.
The Applicant is highly encouraged to avoid white uPVC windows given
the environmental damage the production of such windows causes and the
poor visual appearance they contribute to. The overall design is sensitive,
with reference to Arts and Crafts architectural features and proportions and
given the use of quality roof and wall materials, the Applicant is encouraged
to seek a complimentary double or triple glazed timber or aluminium
window to better suit the wider external design of the dwellings.
Additionally, white uPVC fascias and soffits should be avoided and an
alternative material proposed.
Little information has been provided as to the intended colouration and
texture of external materials. The Applicant is encouraged to assess the
surrounding material palette, for example brick and tile types, hues and
styles for use within this scheme.

Sustainability & Environmental Considerations
•

The Applicant should consider permeable paving for hardstanding to front

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

78

•

of site and measures for increased biodiversity.
Additionally, the Applicant is encouraged to set ambitious energy
efficiency targets for the dwellings through a fabric first approach and for
any construction system and material use to be of low embodied carbon.

Policy Officer
No specific comments to make.

5

POLICIES

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that:
‘If regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.’

5.2

The Government has issued the National Planning Policy Framework [NPPF
2021] sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these
should be applied and is a material consideration in the determination of this
application.

5.3

In this instance, the Development Plan comprises The London Plan 2021 [LP]
and the Local Development Framework [LDF]. The LDF comprises The Harrow
Core Strategy 2012 [CS], Harrow and Wealdstone Area Action Plan 2013 [AAP],
the Development Management Policies, Local Plan 2013 [DMP], the Site
Allocations Local Plan [SALP] 2013 and Harrow Local Area Map 2013 [LAP].

5.4

A full list of all the policies used in the consideration of this application is provided
as Informative 1.

6.0

ASSESSMENT

6.1

The main issues are:
•
•
•
•
•

Principle of the Development
Character of the Area
Residential Amenity
Traffic, Parking and Servicing
Flood Risk and Drainage

6.2

Principle of Development

6.2.1

The relevant policies are:

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

79

•
•

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
Policy CS1.A and B of Harrow's Core Strategy (2012)

Garden Land Development
6.2.2

Following on from national and regional planning policies, the Harrow Core
Strategy includes a presumption against inappropriate development of residential
gardens, recognising the propensity for such proposals to lead to unmanaged,
incremental growth that undermines the spatial strategy of the borough.

6.2.3.

The Council’s adopted Garden Land Development Supplementary Planning
Document (2013) provides clarity on the purposes of the policies CS1A/B of the
Core Strategy (2012) whereby the Council seeks to resist development on
‘garden land’, and gives effect to these policies and objectives.

6.2.4

The proposal comprises of new residential dwellinghouses within the existing
side garden of no. 42 Chartley Avenue. However, the Garden Land Development
SPD makes an exception for new residential dwellinghouses on ‘gap sites’.
These are defined as an anomalous missing piece from an otherwise clearly
defined rhythm of buildings and spaces around buildings in the streetscene. They
are usually obvious vacant plots, of dimensions consistent with those prevailing
in the street. The SPD states that consideration of the pattern and character of
development surrounding the site will enable a distinction to be drawn between
genuine gap sites and spurious proposals for development on garden land.

6.2.5

Through the previous applications (P/1346/20 & P/1312/21), it was considered
that the subject plot constitutes a genuine gap site and would therefore fall within
the exceptions detailed in the adopted Garden Land Development SPD (2013).

6.2.6

Given the similarities with the previous scheme, and as the policy context has not
changed, the principle of development is accepted and would accord with the
relevant policies in this regard.
Provision of new residential accommodation

6.2.7

The provision of new residential family dwellings would comply with the housing
growth objectives and policies of the Harrow Development Plan. The principle of
new residential dwellings on the site is therefore considered acceptable, subject
to the other considerations detailed below.

6.3

Character of the Area

6.3.1

The relevant policies are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
The London Plan (2021): D3
Harrow Development Management Policies (2013): DM1, DM23
Harrow's Core Strategy (2012): CS1
Mayor of London Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016)
Supplementary Planning Document Residential Design Guide (2010)

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

80

6.3.2

Chapter 12 of the NPPF states that Government attaches great importance to the
design of the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable
development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively
to making places better for people. In determining applications, great weight
should be given to outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels
of sustainability, or help raise the standard of design more generally in an area,
so long as they fit in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.

6.3.3

Policy D3 of the London Plan (2021) requires development proposals to enhance
local context by delivering buildings and spaces that positively respond to local
distinctiveness through their layout, orientation, scale, appearance and shape
and respond to the existing quality and character of the area.

6.3.4

Harrow’s Core Strategy Policy CS1 seeks to protect the character of Harrow’s
suburbs and town centres. Policy DM1 on Achieving a High Standard of
Development of the Development Management Policies Document requires all
development proposals to achieve a high standard of design and layout. This
assessment of the design and layout relates to the massing, bulk, scale and
height of the proposed building; the appearance; context; space around
buildings; the need to retain or enhance existing landscaping; the functionality of
the development; the safe, sustainable and inclusive access.

6.3.5

The Council has adopted a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on
Residential Design (2010), which gives design guidance. Substantial weight is
afforded to the SPD as a material planning consideration.

6.3.6

Chartley Avenue is largely characterised by semi-detached bungalows, although
five pairs of semi-detached two-storey properties are located on the western part
of the road. The application site itself is occupied by a detached dwellinghouse,
and nos. 46 and 48 Chartley Avenue adjacent to the south of the application site
are also detached.

6.3.7

Outline planning permission was previously granted for a detached
dwellinghouse which would occupy the side garden of no. 42. This planning
application is not linked to the outline permission and forms a new separate
planning application and so there is no requirement to ensure consistency with
the outline consent. In this case, the subject proposal seeks to provide a larger
building to create two semi-detached dwellinghouses.

6.3.8

The proposed buildings would be sited in close proximity to the site boundaries
albeit the proximity to the northern boundary (adjacent to 42 Chartley Avenue)
has increased in comparison to the previous refused scheme (P/1312/21) from
approx. 0.6m to 1.6m (and a distance of 3m between the building itself). Whilst
the separation on the western boundary remains largely the same, the proposed
building has a significantly different building line than No. 46 and its single storey
extension which extends to the boundary of the application site. Given this
context, the proposal is not considered to result in a terracing effect and, overall,
it is considered that the proposal represents a much more comfortable
relationship with both neighbouring buildings than the previously refused scheme.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

81

As such, the proposal is considered to have addressed the relevant part of the
reason for refusal of that application.
6.3.9

The building is sited in broadly the same position as the previous scheme
(P/1312/21), albeit the front bay has been omitted from this proposal. The same
is the case at the rear of the building with the rear bay also removed. The
building provides an appropriate transition between No’s 42 and 46 Chartley
Avenue, the former of which is set much further forward than No. 46. No
concerns are raised in relation to the siting.

6.3.10

Whilst the overall depth of the building has reduced (due to the removal of the
front and rear bays), the depth of the main building has increased by
approximately 0.8m. Notwithstanding, the proposed building is considered
compatible with the surround area in this regard. Whilst bungalows are common
along Chartley Avenue, there are various buildings in the immediate setting of the
site (including No. 42 and No. 46) which are two storeys and so no concerns are
raised in relation to height.

6.3.11

Whilst only minimal efforts have been made to articulate the front façade, the
incorporation of two front doors gives the appearance of two semi-detached
dwellings, overcoming the concerns raised through the previous application.
Overall, the design is considered satisfactory and further details of materials can
be secured by conditions.

6.3.12

Through the course of this application, the level of parking has been reduced on
the site frontage which has provided additional space for soft landscaping. This is
welcomed. A condition can be attached to secure further details.

6.3.13

Bin storage is located at the front of the property which is considered acceptable.

6.3.14

Overall, the proposal is considered to have addressed the reasons for refusal
from the previous planning application and is acceptable given its design, siting,
scale, height and mass. The proposal therefore accords with the NPPF, Policy
D3 of the London Plan, CS1B of the Core Strategy and DM1 of the Local Plan.

6.4

Residential Amenity

6.4.1

The relevant policies are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
The London Plan (2021): D3, D6,
Harrow Development Management Policies (2013): DM1, DM26
Harrow's Core Strategy (2012): CS1
Mayor of London Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016)
Supplementary Planning Document Residential Design Guide (2010)
Technical housing standards - nationally described space standard (2016);

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

82

Residential Amenities of adjoining occupiers
6.4.2

A core principle of the NPPF is to always seek to secure high quality design and
a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and
buildings. Core Strategy Policy CS1 K requires a high standard of design and
layout across all tenures within a development and consistent with the London
Plan and its associated SPG. Policy DM1 of the Development Management
Policies requires all development to achieve a high standard of privacy and
amenity and sets out a range of criteria for the consideration of the same. The
Council’s Residential Design Guide supplementary planning document is also
relevant.

6.4.3

The proposed development would be in close proximity to nos. 42 and 46
Chartley Avenue and would be orientated towards the rear garden of no. 1
Heather Way.

6.4.4

In comparison to the previous scheme, for which the impact on neighbour
amenity did not form a reason for refusal, the proposed building extends slightly
further back at first floor level adjacent to no. 42 Chartley Avenue, albeit the
central rear bay has been removed (which extended much further than the
proposed building). Notwithstanding, the proposed building would not breach
the 45-degree line when measured from the adjacent first-floor rear corner of
no. 42 and so is considered acceptable in terms of outlook, daylight and
sunlight.

6.4.5

The proposed building does not extend as far back into the site at the ground
floor level and does not extend beyond the neighbouring rear extension to No.
42. There will therefore be no undue impact on the amenity of this neighbour.

6.4.6

In relation to No. 46 Chartley Avenue, located to the south of the application
site, the proposal extends slightly further back into the site at the first floor level
than the previously refused scheme (P/1312/21), but less so at the ground floor
level. The proposed building still retains reasonable separation between the
boundary with this neighbour (approx. 1m), and this neighbour is set further to
the rear than the proposed building. It is considered that the proposal would not
result in undue loss of daylight or sunlight or be overbearing for the occupiers of
this property.

6.4.7

First floor windows are proposed to the flanks of the building. These can be
conditioned as obscure glazed to ensure adequate levels of privacy are
maintained for the occupiers of No. 42 and No. 46 Chartley Avenue.

6.4.8

No. 1 Heather Way adjoins the application site to the rear and is located
perpendicular to the proposed development. Given the separation distances
between the proposed development and the rear elevation of no. 1 Heather
Way, the proposed development would not have a detrimental impact on the
residential amenities of those adjoining occupiers.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

83

6.4.9

Any resulting overlooking impacts from the rear windows of the new dwellings
within the rear gardens of the adjoining or neighbouring properties would be
consistent with the established and prevailing overlooking amenity relationships
and impacts expected within a suburban residential area such as this, and
would therefore not be so unreasonable as to warrant a refusal on this basis.
Residential Amenities of future occupiers

6.4.10

Policy D6 of the London Plan states that Housing development should be of
high quality design and provide adequately-sized rooms. The policy sets out
qualitative and quantitative standards to ensure new housing would provide
comfortable and functional layouts which are fit for purpose and meet the needs
of future occupiers.

6.4.11

Through a written ministerial statement, the Government introduced new
Technical Housing Standards in England (2015). These standards came into
effect on the 1st of October 2015. The Mayor of London published the London
Plan Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance SPG (2016) in order to bring
the London Plan in line with the Technical Housing Standard. The Minimum GIA
and room standards as set out in the Technical Housing Standards (2015) and
The London Plan Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG).

6.4.12

2 x 3 bed units are proposed.

S/C Dwelling

Dwelling1 (3b,
5p)

Room
Bedroom 1
(double)
Bedroom 2
(double)
Bedroom 3
(single)
Built-in Storage

Total GIA
Bedroom 1
(double)
Bedroom 2
(double)
Dwelling 2 (3b,
Bedroom 3
5p)
(single)
Built-in Storage
Total GIA
6.4.13

Proposed Floor
Area (m²)
12.89
11.5
8.5

Minimum Floor
Area Required (m²)
11.5
11.5
7.5

3.5

3

110

93
11.5

12.89
11.5
8.5

11.5
7.5

3.5

4

110

93

As noted from the above table, both units would meet the minimum space
standards set out in the London Plan and national space standards. In
comparison to the previous application, each dwelling now contains two double
bedrooms which is considered appropriate for a family dwelling which is
appropriate in this area. The general layout, internal floor to ceiling heights, and

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

84

standard of accommodation is considered acceptable and the reason for refusal
of the previous scheme is considered to have been addressed.
6.4.14

A condition can be applied to ensure satisfactory fire safety standards are
achieved for the new dwellings.

6.4.15

A designated rear garden would be provided for each dwellinghouse. This
would be an acceptable form and quantum of amenity space and would comply
with the relevant policies in this regard.

6.4.16

The proposal would be considered acceptable in terms of the amenity of future
occupiers of the flats in accordance with the relevant policies.

6.5

Traffic, Parking and Servicing

6.5.1

The relevant policies are:
•
•
•
•

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
The London Plan (2021): T4, T5, T6
Harrow Development Management Policies (2013): DM42, DM45
Harrow's Core Strategy (2012): CS1

6.5.2

Policies DM1 and DM42 of the DMP give advice that developments should make
adequate provision for parking and safe access to and within the site and not
lead to any material increase in substandard vehicular access.

6.5.3

The proposed site plan shows that one motor vehicle could be accommodated
within the forecourt for each property which would be accessed through the
provision of new crossovers. The application site has a PTAL of 2 and therefore
does not benefit from good access to public transport alternatives. This level of
provision is consistent with the London Plan parking standards and the Council’s
Transport Officer raises no concerns.

6.5.4

Each dwelling contains a storage for 2 no. cycles to the rear of the building,
accessed via a side passage. This level of provision is consistent with the
London Plan requirements and further details can be secured through conditions.

6.5.5

In terms of servicing, the refuse storage is proposed within the front gardens,
discretely located behind soft landscaping and planting, which is deemed to be a
suitable arrangement.

.
6.6

Development and Flood Risk

6.6.1

The relevant policies are:
•
•
•
•

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
London Plan (2021): S1 12, SI 13
Harrow Development Management Policies (2013): DM9, DM10
Harrow's Core Strategy (2012): CS1

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

85

6.6.2

Policy DM9 B of the Development Management Policies Local Plan (2013)
states, “proposals that would fail to make appropriate provision for flood risk
mitigation, or which would increase the risk or consequences of flooding, will be
refused.”.

6.6.3

The application is located within a Critical Drainage Area. The Council’s Drainage
Officer has requested a number of conditions for surface and foul water drainage
and surface water attenuation which can be attached to this permission.

7.0

CONCLUSION AND REASONS FOR APPROVAL

7.1

The site is considered to constitute a genuine gap site, falling within the
exceptions detailed in the adopted Garden Land Development SPD (2013), and
the principle of additional dwellings on the site is accepted and would comply
with the housing growth objectives and policies of the Harrow Development Plan.

7.2

The scale and design of the proposed dwellings is compatible with the character
and appearance of the surrounding area and a good standard of accommodation
is being provided. In this respect, the reasons for refusal of the previous
application (P/1312/21) have been addressed. The proposal would not have an
adverse impact on the amenity of adjoining properties.

7.3

The proposed development would therefore accord with Policy D3, D6 of the
London Plan (2021), Policy CS1 of the Harrow Core Strategy 2012 and policies
DM1, DM10, DM23, DM43 and DM45 of the Harrow Development Management
Policies Local Plan (2013).

Checked
Interim Head of Development Management
Corporate Director

06/10/2021
07/10/2021

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

86

APPENDIX 1: Conditions and Informatives
Conditions
1

Timing
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990

2.

Approved Drawing and Documents
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out, completed and retained
in accordance with the following approved plans and document Schedule of
application documents:
62-P2-1 (Location Plan); 62-P2-1C; 62-P2-2; 62-P2-3; 62-P2-4A; 62-P-5; 62-P26; 62-P2-7 (existing plans and elevations); 62-P2-7; 62-P2-8; 62-P2-9; Planning
Statement Version 4 (August 2021)
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3.

Materials
Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, details of
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the building
hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
REASON: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area in accordance
with Core Policy CS1.B of the Harrow Core Strategy (2012) and Policy DM1 of
the Harrow Development Management Policies Local Plan (2013).

4.

Glazing 1
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and reenacting that order with or without modification), no window(s)/door(s), other than
those shown on the approved plans shall be installed in the flank elevation(s) of
the development hereby permitted without the prior permission in writing of the
local planning authority.
REASON: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring residents, in
accordance with Policy DM1 of the Harrow Development Management Policies
Local Plan (2013).

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

87

5.

Glazing 2
The first-floor window(s) in the proposed flank elevations of the approved development
shall:
a) be of purpose-made obscure glass,
b) be permanently fixed closed below a height of 1.7 metres above finished floor
level, and shall thereafter be retained in that form.

REASON: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring residents, in
accordance with Policy DM1 of the Harrow Development Management Policies
Local Plan (2013)
6.

Levels (Pre-Commencement)

No development shall take place, other than works of demolition, until details of
the levels of the building(s), road(s) and footpath(s) in relation to the adjoining
land and highway(s), and any other changes proposed in the levels of the site,
have been submitted to, and approved by, the local planning authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with these approved details and
shall thereafter be retained
REASON: To ensure that the works are carried out at suitable levels in relation to
the highway and adjoining properties in the interests of the amenity of
neighbouring residents, the appearance of the development, drainage, gradient
of access and future highway improvement, in accordance with policies DM1 and
DM10 of the Councils Development Management Policies Local Plan 2013.
7.

Landscaping
The development hereby permitted shall not commence until there has been
submitted to, and approved by, the local planning authority, a scheme of hard
and soft landscape works for the forecourt of the site. Soft landscape works shall
include: planting plans, and schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and
proposed numbers / densities
REASON: To safeguard the appearance and character of the area, and to
enhance the appearance of the development, in compliance with policies DM 1,
DM 22 and DM 23 of the Harrow Development Management Policies Local Plan
(2013).

8.

Landscaping Implementation
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the
occupation of the building(s), or the completion of the development, whichever is
the sooner. Any existing or new trees or shrubs which, within a period of 5 years
from the completion of the development, die, are removed, or become seriously
damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season, with others
of a similar size and species, unless the local authority agrees any variation in
writing.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

88

REASON: To safeguard the appearance and character of the area, and to
enhance the appearance of the development, in compliance with policies DM 1,
DM 22 and DM 23 of the Harrow Development Management Policies Local Plan
(2013).
9.

Cycle Storage
The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied until detailed
elevations, including materials and specification of the external appearance of the
cycle storage have been first submitted to, and agreed in writing, by the local
planning authority. The details shall include: the siting and appearance of the
storage. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details as
so agreed prior to the first occupation of the development and retained in that
form thereafter.
REASON: To safeguard the appearance of the locality and to ensure the
satisfactory provision of cycle storage, to serve the development.

10.

Boundary Treatment
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a plan indicating
the positions, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected for
the rear gardens has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The boundary treatment shall be completed before the
development is occupied. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details and shall thereafter be retained.
REASON: To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residents and the character
of the locality in accordance with policy DM 1 of the Harrow Development
Management Policies Local Plan.

11.

Permitted Development Restriction
The development hereby permitted shall be used for Class C3 dwellinghouse(s)
only and notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking
or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no development within
Schedule 2, Part 3, Class L shall take place.
REASON: To enable the Local Planning Authority to fully consider the effects of
development normally permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 to maintain mixed, balanced, sustainable
and inclusive communities and in the interests of residential and visual amenity.

12.

Secure by Design Accreditation
Prior to the first occupation of the development, evidence of Secured by Design
Certification shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority in writing to be
agreed, or justification shall be submitted where the accreditation requirements

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

89

cannot be met. Secure by design measures shall be implemented and the
development shall be retained in accordance with the approved details.
REASON: In the interests of creating safer and more sustainable communities
and to safeguard amenity by reducing the risk of crime and the fear of crime. the
Local Plan (2013), and Section 17 of the Crime & Disorder Act 1998.
13.

Refuse Storage
The refuse bins shall be stored at all times, other than on collection days, in the
designated refuse storage area, as shown on the approved drawing.
REASON: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area in accordance
with Core Policy CS1.B of the Harrow Core Strategy (2012) and Policy DM1 of the
Harrow Development Management Policies Local Plan (2013).

14.

Fire Safety (Pre-Commencement)

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a Fire Safety
Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, this statement shall include details of how the development will function
in terms of the following:
1) identify suitably positioned unobstructed outside space: a) for fire appliances to
be positioned on b) appropriate for use as an evacuation assembly point
2) is designed to incorporate appropriate features which reduce the risk to life and
the risk of serious injury in the event of a fire; including appropriate fire alarm
systems and passive and active fire safety measures
3) is constructed in an appropriate way to minimise the risk of fire spread
4) provide suitable and convenient means of escape, and associated evacuation
strategy for all building users
5) develop a robust management strategy for evacuation which is to be
periodically updated and published (details of how often this management strategy
is to be reviewed and published to be included), and which all building users can
have confidence in
6) provide suitable access and equipment for firefighting which is appropriate for
the size and use of the development.
The development shall be operated in accordance with the approved details in
perpetuity.
REASON: To ensure that the fire safety of the proposed building is managed in a
satisfactory manner and that the development contributes to fire safety in line with
Policy D12A of the London Plan (2021). To ensure appropriate fire safety
measures are approved before development commences on site, this condition is
a PRE-COMMENCEMENT condition.
15.

LBHPC C 02 FW Disposal
The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until works for the
disposal of sewage have been provided on site in accordance with details to be
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The works
shall thereafter be retained.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

90

To ensure that the necessary construction and design criteria for the development
proposals follow approved conditions.
The applicant should contact Thames Water Utilities Limited and the Harrow
Infrastructure Team at the earliest opportunity.
REASON: To ensure that adequate drainage facilities are provided in accordance
with Sewers for Adoption.
16.

LBHPC C 03 SW Disposal
The development of any buildings hereby permitted shall not be commenced until
works for the disposal of surface water have been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority.
To ensure that the necessary construction and design criteria for the development
proposals follow approved conditions according to NPPF.
The applicant should contact Harrow Drainage Section at the earliest opportunity.
REASON: To ensure that adequate drainage facilities are provided, reduce and
mitigate the effects of flood risk following guidance in the National Planning Policy
Framework.

17.

LBHPC C 04 SW Attenuation
The development of any buildings hereby permitted shall not be commenced until
surface water attenuation and storage works have been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
To ensure that the necessary construction and design criteria for the development
proposals follow approved conditions according to NPPF.
For allowable discharge rates the applicant should contact Harrow Drainage
Section at the earliest opportunity.
REASON: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, reduce and mitigate the
effects of flood risk following guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework.

18.

LBHPC C 13 Permeable Paving
Notwithstanding the approved details and prior to the commencement of
development, full details of the permeable paving and details relating to the long
term maintenance and management of the on-site drainage shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details thereby approved
shall be retained thereafter.
REASON: To ensure that the development has adequate drainage facilities, to
reduce and mitigate the effects of flood risk and would not impact the character
and appearance of the development, in accordance with The National Planning
Policy Framework (2021), policy CS1 of The Core Strategy (2012), policy SI13 of
the London Plan (2016) and policies DM1 and DM10 of the Harrow Development
Management Local Policies Plan (2013).

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

91

Informatives
1.

Policies
The following policies are relevant to this decision:
The National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
The London Plan (2021)
D3, D5, D6, H1, H2, G6, SI13, T5, T6, T6.1,
The Harrow Core Strategy (2012): CS1
Harrow Development Management Policies Local Plan (2013):
DM1, DM10, DM22, DM23, DM24, DM27, DM42, DM45
Supplementary Planning Documents:
Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Design Guide (2010)
Supplementary Planning Document: Garden Land Development (2013)
Garden Land Development Supplementary Planning Document (2013)

2.

Pre-application engagement
Statement under Article 35(2) of The Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedures) (England) Order 2015
This decision has been taken in accordance with paragraphs 39-42 of The National
Planning Policy Framework. Harrow Council has a pre-application advice service
and actively encourages applicants to use this service. Please note this for future
reference prior to submitting any future planning applications.

3.

Considerate Contractor Code of Practice
The applicant's attention is drawn to the requirements in the attached Considerate
Contractor Code of Practice, in the interests of minimising any adverse effects
arising from building operations, and in particular the limitations on hours of
working.

4.

Party Wall Act
The Party Wall etc. Act 1996 requires a building owner to notify and obtain formal
agreement from adjoining owner(s) where the building owner intends to carry out
building work which involves:
1. work on an existing wall shared with another property;
2. building on the boundary with a neighbouring property;
3. excavating near a neighbouring building,
and that work falls within the scope of the Act.
Procedures under this Act are quite separate from the need for planning permission
or building regulations approval.
“The Party Wall etc. Act 1996: Explanatory booklet” is available free of charge from:
Communities and Local Government Publications, PO Box 236, Wetherby, LS23
7NB
Please quote Product code: 02 BR 00862 when ordering
Also available for download from the CLG website:

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

92

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/
133214.pdf
Tel: 0870 1226 236 Fax: 0870 1226 237
Textphone: 0870 1207 405
E-mail: communities@twoten.com
5.

Liability for Damage to Highway
The applicant is advised to ensure that the highway is not interfered with or
obstructed at any time during the execution of any works on land adjacent to a
highway. The applicant is liable for any damage caused to any footway, footpath,
grass verge, vehicle crossing, carriageway or highway asset. Please report any
damage to nrswa@harrow.gov.uk or telephone 020 8424 1884 where assistance
with the repair of the damage is available, at the applicants expense. Failure to
report any damage could result in a charge being levied against the property.

6.

Surface and foul water connections
The applicant is advised that the Drainage Authority in Harrow recommends the
submission of a drainage plan, for their approval, indicating all surface and foul
water connections and their outfall details. Please also note that separate
systems are used in Harrow for surface water and foul water discharge. Please
email infrastructure@harrow.gov.uk with your plans.

7.

Designing Out Crime
For further information regarding Secure By Design, the applicant can contact
the North West London Designing Out Crime Group on the following:
DOCOMailbox.NW@met.police.uk

8.

Mayoral CIL
Please be advised that approval of this application (either by Harrow Council, or
subsequently by the Planning Inspectorate if allowed on appeal following a
refusal by Harrow Council) will attract a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
liability, which is payable upon the commencement of development. This charge
is levied under s.206 of the Planning Act 2008 Harrow Council, as CIL collecting
authority, has responsibility for the collection of the Mayoral CIL
The Provisional Mayoral CIL liability for the application, based on the Mayoral CIL
levy rate for Harrow of £60/sqm is £13,962
The floorspace subject to CIL may also change as a result of more detailed
measuring and taking into account any in-use floor space and relief grants (i.e.
for example, social housing).
You are advised to visit the planning portal website where you can download the
appropriate document templates.
Please complete and return the Assumption of Liability Form 1 and CIL Additional
Information Form 0.
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_1_assumption_of_liab
ility.pdf

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

93

https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/cil_questions.pdf
If you have a Commencement Date please also complete CIL Form 6:
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_6_commencement_n
otice.pdf
The above forms should be emailed to HarrowCIL@Harrow.gov.uk
Please note that the above forms must be completed and provided to the Council
prior to the commencement of the development; failure to do this may result in
surcharges and penalties
9.

Harrow CIL
Harrow has a Community Infrastructure Levy which applies Borough wide for
certain developments of over 100sqm gross internal floor space.
Harrow's Charges are:
Residential (Use Class C3) - £110 per sqm;
Hotels (Use Class C1), Residential Institutions except Hospitals, (Use Class C2),
Student Accommodation, Hostels and HMOs (Sui generis) - £55 per sqm;
Retail (Use Class A1), Financial & Professional Services (Use Class A2),
Restaurants and Cafes (Use Class A3) Drinking Establishments (Use Class A4)
Hot Food Takeaways (Use Class A5) - £100 per sqm
All other uses - Nil.
The Provisional Harrow CIL liability for the application, based on the Harrow CIL
levy rate for Harrow of £110/sqm is £25,597
This amount includes indexation which is 333/224. The floorspace subject to CIL
may also change as a result of more detailed measuring and taking into account
any in-use floor space and relief grants (i.e. for example, social housing).
The CIL Liability is payable upon the commencement of development.
You are advised to visit the planning portal website where you can download the
relevant CIL Forms.
Please complete and return the Assumption of Liability Form 1 and CIL Additional
Information Form 0.
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_1_assumption_of_liab
ility.pdf
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/cil_questions.pdf
If you have a Commencement Date please also complete CIL Form 6:
https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/1app/forms/form_6_commencement_n
otice.pdf
The above forms should be emailed to HarrowCIL@Harrow.gov.uk
Please note that the above forms must be completed and provided to the Council
prior to the commencement of the development; failure to do this may result in
surcharges
PLAN LIST
62-P2-1 (Location Plan); 62-P2-1C; 62-P2-2; 62-P2-3; 62-P2-4A; 62-P-5; 62-P26; 62-P2-7 (existing plans and elevations); 62-P2-7; 62-P2-8; 62-P2-9; Planning
Statement Version 4 (August 2021)

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

94

CHECKED

Head of Development Management
Corporate Director

DM 06/10/2021
DP 07/10/2021

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

95

APPENDIX 2: SITE PLAN

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

96

APPENDIX 3: SITE PHOTOGRAPHS

Figure 1 - Existing site/outbuildings adjacent to no. 46 Chartley Avenue

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

97

Figure 2 - Rear of site (adjacent to boundary with No. 1 Heather Way)

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

98

Figure 3 - Boundary with No. 42 Chartley Avenue

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

99

Figure 4 - Existing Site

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

100

Figure 5 - Existing outbuilding

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

101

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

102

Figure 6 - No. 46 Chartley Avenue

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

103

APPENDIX 4: PLANS AND ELEVATIONS
Existing Plans and Elevations (No. 42 Chartley Avenue – to be retained other than
conservatory and outbuildings)

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

104

Proposed Plans

Proposed Sections

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

105

Proposed Elevations

Proposed Street Scene

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

106

Existing Site Plan

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

107

Proposed Site Plan
______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

108

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

109

This page has been left intentionally blank

______________________________________________________________________________________________
Planning Committee
42 Chartley Avenue HA7 3QZ
Wednesday 20th October 2021

110

